Illinois State University

ISU ReD: Research and eData

Theses and Dissertations

6-14-2023

Mutations in Lamin and How It Causes Multiple Tissue-Specific Disorders

Bismark Acquah Illinois State University, markaqua98@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.library.illinoisstate.edu/etd

Recommended Citation

Acquah, Bismark, "Mutations in Lamin and How It Causes Multiple Tissue-Specific Disorders" (2023). *Theses and Dissertations*. 1717. https://ir.library.illinoisstate.edu/etd/1717

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by ISU ReD: Research and eData. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ISU ReD: Research and eData. For more information, please contact ISUReD@ilstu.edu.

MUTATIONS IN LAMIN AND HOW THEY CAUSE MULTIPLE TISSUE-SPECIFIC DISORDERS

BISMARK ACQUAH

83 Pages

Lamins are the major components of the nuclear lamina where they provide a platform for the binding of proteins to the chromatin and confer mechanical stability (Dittmer and Misteli.,2011). Mutations in the human LMNA gene result in at least 15 distinct disorders ranging from muscular dystrophies to neurological disorders to lipodystrophies (Vytopil *et al.*,2003). Interestingly, some mutant forms of lamin protein aggregate, which may be toxic to the cells. However, it is unknown how specific mutations in lamin give rise to tissue-specific disease. I hypothesize that certain tissues are susceptible to specific lamin mutations due to the inability of tissue-specific quality control mechanisms to degrade those mutant forms, leading to protein aggregation and cellular toxicity. Lamin can be post-translationally modified by the addition of a lipid called a farnesyl group that helps anchor Lamin into the nuclear envelope. In addition, some laminopathies are characterized by alterations in the farnesylation state of Lamin. I find that the unfarnesylated form (the predominant form) and the farnesylated form of the different Lam Dm₀ mutant proteins have different expression patterns in the muscle. Future experiments will characterize how these mutant forms of Dm0 affect the functionality of the muscles and neurons in flies and if these forms can be targeted for degradation by p38Kb and the CASA complex.

KEYWORDS: Lamin; Lam Dm₀. Laminopathies; Farnesylation; Chaperone Assisted Selective Autophagy (CASA)-complex.

MUTATIONS IN LAMIN AND HOW THEY CAUSE CAUSES MULTIPLE TISSUE-

SPECIFIC DISORDERS

BISMARK ACQUAH

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

School of Biological Sciences

ILLINOIS STATE UNIVERSITY

2023

© 2023 Bismark Acquah

MUTATIONS IN LAMIN AND HOW THEY CAUSE MULTIPLE TISSUE-SPECIFIC DISORDERS

BISMARK ACQUAH

COMMITTEE MEMBERS:

Alysia Vrailas-Mortimer, Chair

Tom Hammond

Martin Engelke

Jan Ulrik Dahl

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I stand here today, on the threshold of a new chapter in my life, with immense gratitude in my heart. It is with great pleasure that I extend my deepest appreciation and sincere acknowledgement to my esteemed advisor, Dr. Alysia Vrailas-Mortimer, whose unwavering guidance, and invaluable support have played an instrumental role in shaping my academic journey. Throughout my time in graduate school, Dr. Alysia has been more than just a mentor to me. Her exceptional wisdom, expertise, and unwavering commitment to excellence have left an indelible mark on my intellectual growth and personal development. From the moment I embarked on this path, her constant belief in my potential has been a constant source of inspiration and motivation.

Dr. Jan Dahl and Dr. Martin Engelke's dedication to fostering a collaborative and stimulating environment has created the ideal setting for intellectual exploration. Their profound knowledge, profound insight, and ability to challenge my ideas have pushed me beyond my perceived limits, encouraging me to question, discover, and innovate. It is through their guidance that I have acquired a deeper understanding of my field, unlocking doors to new possibilities, and igniting a passion for lifelong learning. Beyond everyone's scholarly contributions, Dr. Tom Hammond has proven to be an extraordinary mentor on a personal level. His compassion, patience, and genuine interest in my well-being have provided solace during challenging times. He listened attentively, offered sound advice, consistently encouraged me, and came through for me whenever I called for help. His mentorship has extended beyond the boundaries of the classroom, demonstrating the qualities of a true role model and confidant.

Words cannot adequately express my gratitude to Piotr Klos as well. He has been a beacon of knowledge, a pillar of support, and a guiding light throughout my graduate school journey. Furthermore, I am grateful for the opportunities Dr. Alysia Vrailas-Mortimer has provided me throughout my journey. Her guidance together with all my committee members has not only shaped my academic pursuits but has also profoundly impacted my personal growth and shaped the person I have become. I am honored to have had the privilege of being mentored by such an extraordinary individual.

Lastly, I would like to acknowledge the broader academic community and fellow researchers who have shared their knowledge and expertise, forming the foundation upon which this model was built. Their collective contributions have facilitated the creation of an incredible tool that has greatly enhanced the scope and depth of my thesis. Using ChatGPT has been an enlightening and transformative experience, enabling me to explore new ideas, refine my arguments, and expand the boundaries of my research. I am truly grateful for the assistance it has provided, making my thesis a more comprehensive and impactful piece of work.

Thank you all for everything you have done for me. Your unwavering beliefs in my potential, your wisdom, and your compassionate mentorships will forever hold a special place in my heart. As I embark on new horizons, I will carry the lessons I have learned from you all, ready to make a positive impact on the world.

B.A.

CONTENTS

| | Page |
|---|------|
| ACKNOWLEDGMENTS | i |
| TABLE OF CONTENTS | iii |
| TABLES | v |
| FIGURES | vi |
| CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| 1.1 Structural Features of Lamin Subtypes | 1 |
| 1.2 Nuclear Stability and Mechanics | 3 |
| 1.3 Gene Regulation and Chromatin Organization | 4 |
| 1.4 Expression Patterns of Lamin Subtypes | 5 |
| 1.5 Lamin processing | 5 |
| 1.6 Laminopathies: Unraveling the Complexities of Nuclear Lamina Disorders | 7 |
| 1.7 Treatments for Laminopathies | 8 |
| 1.8 Drosophila as A Model Organism | 12 |
| 1.9 The p38Kb Pathway and The Chaperone Assisted Selective Autophagy (CASA) complex | 14 |
| Literature Review | 17 |

| CHAPTER II: MATERIALS AND METHODS | 19 |
|--|----|
| The UAS-GAL4 System | 19 |
| Western Blotting | 21 |
| Fly Climbing (Behavior Assay) | 22 |
| Lifespan Assays | 22 |
| Sucrose Gradient Fractionation | 23 |
| CHAPTER III: RESULTS | 24 |
| Mutations in lamin that result in an increased ratio of farnesylated lamin cause locomotor impairment when expressed in the muscle | 24 |
| Lamin Mutation affects longevity in female flies with HA-tag | 29 |
| Distribution of fly climbing is affected by Lamin mutants without HA-tag | 30 |
| Lamin Mutation reduces longevity in female and male flies with no HA-tag | 31 |
| CHAPTER IV: DISCUSSION | 35 |
| CHAPTER V: CONCLUSION | 40 |
| REFERENCES | 42 |

TABLES

| Table | | Page |
|-------|---|------|
| 1. | Showing Nuclear Lamin Diseases, Function, and Phenotypes | 11 |
| 2. | Showing the various mutant forms of Lamin in Flies (LamC and LamDm0) and in Humans with their corresponding Tissue-specific Disorders | 18 |

FIGURES

| Figure | Page |
|---|--------------|
| 1a. Showing the structure and carboxy-terminal processing of A-type and B-type Lamins | 6 |
| 1b. Showing the nuclear pore complex and Lamin interaction together with other Lamin associated proteins | 13 |
| 1c. Model of chaperone assisted selective autophagy (CASA) complex | 16 |
| 2. UAS-GAL4 system | 21 |
| 3.1 Mutations in Lamin affect the ration of farnesylated to unfarnesylated Lamin when expr in the muscle | ressed 25 |
| 3.2. Lamin mutation affects Locomotive and Flight functions in Female flies | 28 |
| 3.3. Lamin Mutation affects longevity in female flies with HA-tag | 29 |
| 3.4. Distribution of fly climbing is affected by Lamin mutants without HA-tag | 31 |
| 3.5a. Lamin Mutation reduces longevity in female flies with no HA-tag | 32 |
| 3.5b. Lamin Mutation reduces longevity in male flies with no HA-tag | 33 |

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Structural Features of Lamin Subtypes

The nuclear lamina is a critical component of the cell nucleus and plays a crucial role in maintaining nuclear structure and function (Moir *et al.*, 2011). It is primarily composed of intermediate filament proteins called Lamins, which are divided into two major subtypes: A-type lamins and B-type lamins (Kapinos *et al.*, 2011). Lamin subtypes have distinct characteristics and functions, and their dysregulation has been associated with various human diseases, including muscular dystrophy, premature aging syndromes, and certain types of cancer (Glass *et al.*, 1993). This chapter aims to provide an in-depth exploration of lamin subtypes, including their structural features, expression patterns, and functional roles.

A-type lamins, also known as lamins A and C, are encoded by the LMNA gene and contain a conserved central α -helical rod domain flanked by globular N-terminal head and C-terminal tail domains (Ascencio *et al.*,2012). The rod domain consists of heptad repeats that form coiled-coil structures, allowing the assembly of lamin dimers and higher-order polymers (Moir *et al.*, 2011). The tail domain contains a nuclear localization signal (NLS) that facilitates the targeting of A-type lamins to the nucleus (Taniura *et al.*, 1995). The tail domain of A-type lamins plays a crucial role in the formation of the nuclear envelope and providing structural support to the envelope (Kapinos *et al.*, 2011). The tail domain of A-type lamins interacts with various inner nuclear membrane proteins, such as emerin and LAP2 proteins (Sullivan *et al.*, 1999). These interactions help to anchor the lamins to the inner nuclear membrane and stabilize the nuclear envelope structure (Guo *et al.*, 2015). The tail domain of A-type lamins also binds to chromatin, the DNA-protein complex within the nucleus (Lammerding *et al.*, 2006). This interaction is important for maintaining the overall nuclear architecture and organizing the chromatin within the nucleus by helping to tether the chromatin to the nuclear envelope and facilitating proper gene regulation and nuclear functions (Guo *et al.*, 2015). It can undergo self-assembly and form higher-order structures, such as oligomers and filaments (Guo *et al.*, 2015). These structures provide mechanical support to the nuclear envelope and contribute to its stability and integrity (Steensel *et al.*, 2017). During the assembly of the nuclear envelope, the tail domain of A-type lamins interacts with other proteins involved in the process, such as nuclear pore complex components (Steensel *et al.*, 2017). This interaction is important for the proper localization and integration of these proteins into the nuclear envelope, ensuring its functional integrity (Taniura *et al.*, 1995) In summary, the tail domain of A-type lamins contributes to the formation and maintenance of the nuclear envelope by interacting with inner nuclear membrane proteins, associating with chromatin, forming higher-order structures, and participating in nuclear envelope assembly (Sullivan *et al.*, 1999). These mechanisms collectively provide structural support to the nuclear envelope and help regulate nuclear functions (Moir *et al.*, 2011).

B-type lamins, encoded by the LMNB1 and LMNB2 genes, include lamin B1 and lamin B2, which share structural similarities with A-type lamins (Steensel *et al.*, 2017). B-type lamins also possess an α -helical rod domain, N-terminal head domain, and C-terminal tail domain (Kapinos *et al.*, 2011). However, their rod domain lacks the extensive coiled-coil structure observed in A-type lamins (Kapinos *et al.*, 2011).). Flies have 2 lamin genes, which arose from a single ancestral lamin gene (Steensel *et al.*, 2017). Lam C, which is a homologue of lamin A/C and Lam Dm₀, which is a homologue of both lamin A, B1 and B2 ((Moir *et al.*, 2011). Lam Dm₀ is the only lamin type expressed in neurons (Lammerding *et al.*, 2006).

1.2 Nuclear Stability and Mechanics

Lamins play a crucial role in providing structure and support to the nucleus. They are part of the nuclear lamina, a mesh-like network of proteins located on the inner surface of the nuclear envelope (Sullivan et al., 1999). The nuclear envelope consists of two lipid bilayers, the inner and outer nuclear membranes, which are separated by the perinuclear space. The nuclear lamina lies just beneath the inner nuclear membrane and interacts with it through various proteins (Guo *et al.*, 2015). A-type lamins, with their higher-order polymerization, form a meshwork beneath the inner nuclear membrane, contributing to nuclear rigidity (Kapinos et al., 2011). B-type lamins, although less abundant in the lamina, also contribute to nuclear stability by interacting with other nuclear envelope proteins and chromatin (Guo et al., 2015). Lamins provide structural support to the nucleus by forming a meshwork or scaffold-like structure in the nuclear lamina. This network of lamins helps maintain the shape and integrity of the nucleus ((Taniura et al., 1995). Without lamins, the nucleus can become misshapen or undergo structural deformations (Steensel et al., 2017) since lamins interact with other nuclear envelope proteins to provide mechanical strength and stability to the envelope (Glass *et al.*, 1993). Mutations in lamin genes can lead to nuclear envelope defects, such as nuclear envelope ruptures or invaginations, compromising nuclear integrity (Steensel et al., 2017). Lamins contribute to nuclear mechanics by modulating the stiffness and elasticity of the nucleus. This mechanical stability is important for various cellular processes, such as cell migration, mechanotransduction, and nuclear-cytoskeletal interactions (Guo et al., 2015). They undergo phosphorylation and dephosphorylation cycles, allowing for the disassembly and reassembly of the nuclear envelope during cell division and nuclear envelope breakdown and reformation during mitosis (Lammerding et al., 2006).

Lamins also play a role in organizing the positioning of the nuclear pore complexes (NPCs), which are large protein complexes responsible for regulating the movement of molecules between the nucleus and the cytoplasm (Lammerding *et al.*,2006). This organization is essential for the efficient transport of molecules into and out of the nucleus (Glass *et al.*, 1993). Additionally, the association between lamins and NPCs contributes to the mechanical strength and flexibility of the nuclear envelope (Steensel *et al.*, 2017).

1.3 Gene Regulation and Chromatin Organization

One of the key functions of lamins is to anchor the nuclear envelope to the chromatin, the complex of DNA and proteins that make up the genetic material (Steensel *et al.*, 2017). Lamins bind to specific regions of the chromatin called lamin-associated domains, providing stability and structural integrity to the nucleus (Sullivan *et al.*, 1999). Lamin subtypes play important roles in gene regulation and chromatin organization. They also play a role in organizing and regulating chromatin within the nucleus (Steensel *et al.*, 2017). lamins anchor heterochromatin (densely packed DNA) to the nuclear periphery, helping to position chromatin domains and influencing gene expression. A-type lamins interact with transcription factors and chromatin-associated proteins, influencing gene expression patterns and chromatin organization (Glass *et al.*, 1993). Btype lamins also participate in chromatin organization and contribute to nuclear architecture by forming interactions with specific DNA sequences and chromosomal domains (Steensel *et al.*, 2017).

While the different lamin subtypes have distinct functions, they also work together in coordinating nuclear functions and responding to stimuli (Guo *et al.*, 2015). They form a complex network that integrates signals from the external environment and regulates various cellular processes (Steensel *et al.*, 2017).

1.4 Expression Patterns of Lamin Subtypes

A-type lamins are expressed in a developmentally regulated manner and exhibit tissuespecific variations (Sullivan *et al.*, 1999). During early development, A-type lamins are expressed at low levels, but their expression increases as cells differentiate (Glass *et al.*, 1993). In most adult tissues, A-type lamins are abundant and widely distributed throughout the nuclear lamina (Kapinos *et al.*, 2011). However, certain tissues, such as skeletal and cardiac muscle, express higher levels of A-type lamins compared to other tissues (Taniura *et al.*, 1995). Unlike A-type lamins, B-type lamins are constitutively expressed in all nucleated cells (Lammerding *et al.*, 2006). Lamin B1 is the predominant B-type lamin and is ubiquitously expressed (Pan *et al.*, 2007). Whereas lamin B2 expression is restricted to specific tissues and cell types and is particularly abundant in the central nervous system, including neurons and glial cells (Guo *et al.*, 2015).

1.5 Lamin processing

During mitosis, when the nuclear envelope breaks down and the lamina disassembles, Atype lamins are solubilized and distributed throughout the cytoplasm, whereas B-type lamins maintain close associations with the nuclear membrane (Taniura *et al.*, 1995). The differences in membrane attachment during mitosis are attributed to whether the lamin protein is farnesylated, in which an isoprenol group is added to a cysteine residue following translation to form a thioether linkage. Mature lamin B retains its farnesylation moiety, which anchors B-type lamins to the membrane during mitosis, whereas the farnesylation moiety is removed from lamin A, rendering it more soluble (Kapinos *et al.*, 2011).



Source: Nature Reviews | Molecular Cell Biology, 2012

Figure 1a: Showing the structure and carboxy-terminal processing of A-type and B-type

Lamins. a. Each of the Lamins features a small(10–20residues) 'head' domain followed by a central rod domain containing four coiled-coil regions (termed 1A, 1B, 2A and 2B). The large nonhelical 'tail' domain is organized around an immunoglobulin (Ig)-like β-fold. A nuclear localization

sequence (NLS) lies immediately downstream of the rod domain.

The proteolytic cleavage of pre-lamin A (indicated by a black arrowhead in figure 1) results in the appearance of mature lamin A (Glass *et al.*, 1993). Lamin A and each of the B-type Lamins contain a carboxy-terminal CaaX motif (where C is Cys, a is an aliphatic residue and X is usually represented by a Met) that defines a site of farnesylation and carboxy methylation (Guo *et al.*,2015). Farnesylation of Lamins on the CaaX Cys residue is done by the protein farnesyltransferase (FT) soon after synthesis (Ascencio *et al.*, 2012). This is followed by proteolysis of the aaX residues by farnesylated proteins-converting enzyme 2 (FACE2; also known as CaaX prenyl protease) in the case of the B-type Lamins, and by ZMPSTE24, a zinc metalloendoprotease, in the case of lamin A). Processing of the CaaX motif is completed by carboxy methylation by ICMT (isoprenylcysteine carboxyl methyltransferase) of the new C terminus (Sullivan *et al.*, 1999).

Once incorporated into the nuclear lamina, lamin A, but not the B-type Lamins, undergoes an additional ZMPSTE24-mediated cleavage step (in human lamin A this occurs after Tyr646, as indicated by black arrowhead in (**Figure 1a**). which removes an additional 15 amino acids, including the farnesylated Cys, leading to the appearance of non-farnesylated mature lamin A (Burke *et al*, 2012). To facilitate the disassembly of the lamina, lamins are phosphorylated by Protein kinase C and are dephosphorylated by type1 protein phosphatase during reassembly (Taniura *et al.*, 1995).

1.6 Laminopathies: Unraveling the Complexities of Nuclear Lamina Disorders

Mutations in Lamin (LMNA gene) result in at least 15 distinct disorders ranging from muscular dystrophies to neurological disorders to lipodystrophies (Vytopil *et al.*,2003). These disorders are collectively called laminopathies, are a class of uncommon genetic diseases caused by mutations in the lamin genes and other related genes including ZMPSTE24, which codes for a metalloproteinase important in lamin processing (Pan *et al.*, 2007). As dysfunction of the nuclear lamina can impact many organ systems, laminopathies include a broad category of illnesses that have extremely different clinical phenotypic forms, including skeletal muscle diseases like EmeryDreifuss muscular dystrophy, progeria syndromes like Hutchinson-Gilford, cardiac illnesses including dilated cardiomyopathy, and lipodystrophies (Glass *et al.*, 1993). While these disorders are distinct conditions, they all involve abnormalities in cellular components related to nuclear structure and lipid metabolism (Taniura *et al.*, 1995). Laminopathies primarily affect tissues that require significant nuclear integrity and stability, such as skeletal muscle, cardiac muscle, adipose tissue, and peripheral nerves.

Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy (EDMD) primarily affects the skeletal and cardiac muscles, and symptoms may include muscle weakness, contractures (joint stiffness), and cardiac abnormalities. Hutchinson-Gilford progeria syndrome (HGPS) affects connective tissues throughout the body. This condition causes premature aging, leading to characteristic features like skin changes, joint stiffness, and cardiovascular problems. Autosomal dominant leukodystrophy (ADLD), primarily affects the central nervous system. Symptoms may include progressive motor and cognitive impairment, as well as changes in behavior. Laminopathies can also affect adipose tissue, resulting in lipodystrophies, which are characterized by the loss or abnormal distribution of adipose tissue, leading to metabolic disturbances.

1.7 Treatments for Laminopathies

Treatment options for laminopathies are often focused on managing the specific symptoms and associated complications. These may include physical therapy for muscle weakness and contractures, cardiac medications and interventions for heart-related issues, metabolic management for lipodystrophy-associated metabolic disturbances, and supportive care for peripheral neuropathies. It's essential for individuals with laminopathies to work closely with a medical team specialized in these conditions to receive appropriate care, monitoring, and guidance based on their specific needs. One interesting aspect of laminopathies is that the mutations causing these disorders do not cluster to a single area of the lamin protein.

Lamin proteins consist of three major regions: the N-terminal head domain, the central ahelical rod domain, and the C-terminal tail domain. Mutations associated with laminopathies can occur in any of these domains, and in some cases, they may affect multiple regions simultaneously (Pan *et al.*, 2007). For example, mutations in the head domain of lamin A/C have been linked to diseases such as Hutchinson-Gilford progeria syndrome (HGPS) (Kapinos *et al.*, 2011). These mutations typically involve a single nucleotide change that leads to the production of a mutant lamin A protein called progerin. Progerin disrupts nuclear structure and function, leading to the characteristic features of HGPS (Glass *et al.*, 1993). In contrast, other laminopathies, such as Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy (EDMD) and dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM), are associated with mutations in various regions of lamin A/C, including the rod domain and the tail domain (Sullivan *et al.*, 1999). These mutations can result in abnormal nuclear morphology, impaired gene expression, and tissue-specific symptoms affecting skeletal muscles or the heart (Taniura *et al.*, 1995).

The wide distribution of laminopathy-associated mutations throughout different regions of the lamin protein suggests that the functional consequences of these mutations can vary depending on their specific location. Mutations affecting different domains of lamin proteins may disrupt distinct molecular interactions, leading to diverse cellular effects and tissue-specific manifestations of laminopathies. Understanding the mechanisms by which specific mutations in lamin proteins contribute to laminopathies is an active area of research. Researchers are investigating how these mutations affect nuclear architecture, chromatin organization, gene expression, and cellular signaling pathways. By unraveling the molecular basis of laminopathies, scientists hope to develop targeted therapies that can mitigate the effects of these genetic disorders in the future.

Current approaches to treating laminopathies generally concentrate on managing symptoms and consequences. An ongoing investigation is, however, illuminating promising treatment directions. Targeted gene therapies, gene editing methods (such as CRISPR-Cas9), and pharmaceutical interventions to modify the nuclear lamina or its downstream signaling cascades are some examples of these (Glass *et al.*, 1993). Innovative techniques, including those based on small molecules, antisense oligonucleotides, and epigenetic modifiers, have the potential to be used in therapeutic interventions in the future (Pan *et al.*, 2007). Continued study is essential to elucidate the underlying mechanisms and broaden the range of available treatments because the field of laminopathies is developing quickly. Gaining a thorough understanding of laminopathies, including their molecular pathophysiology, genotype-phenotype correlations, and prospective treatment targets, requires collaboration among doctors, geneticists, cell biologists, and bioengineers.

| Syndrome/disease | Effects on LMNA gene and protein | Phenotype |
|--|--|---|
| Emery–Dreifuss muscular dystrophy (EDMD) | Autosomal dominant or recessive missense mutations in <i>LMNA</i> in various positions. Some may affect assembly of lamin A and interactions with associated proteins. | Progressive muscle weakness, cardiomyopathy |
| Dilated cardiomyopathy, type 1A | Autosomal dominant missense mutations mostly in exons 1 or 3 of LMNA. | Cardiomyopathy with minimal effects on skeletal muscle |
| Limb girdle muscular dystrophy (LGMD) | Autosomal dominant mutations in exon 1 of <i>LMNA</i> . The effect on lamin A is not known. | Skeletal muscle weakness and heart defects |
| Familial partial lipodystrophy, Dunnigan type (FPLD2) | Autosomal dominant missense mutations in exons 8 and 11 of <i>LMNA</i> . Mainly affects the Ig-fold domain that may interfere with protein-protein interactions. | Loss of subcutaneous fat, insulin- resistance, diabetes, hypertriglyceridemia and atherosclerosis |
| Mandibuloacral dysplasia (MAD) | Autosomal recessive mutations R527H, K542N, and A529V in the Ig-fold domain. Compound heterozygous mutations have also been reported. May interfere with protein-protein interactions. | Dental defects, lipodystrophy, atrophy of the skin on hands and feet, mandibular hypoplasia, acroosteolysis, alopecia, insulin resistance, progeroid features. |
| Hutchinson–Gilford progeria syndrome (HGPS) | Mostly spontaneous mutations (1824 C-to-T) in exon 11 of <i>LMNA</i> . This activates a cryptic splice donor site leading to the permanently farnesylated form of mutant lamin A called "progerin" with a deletion of 50 amino acids near the C terminus. Alters lamin functions with respect to nuclear shape maintenance and chromatin organization. | Early onset premature aging with alopecia, loss of subcutaneous fat, severe atherosclerosis, and cardiovascular disease leading to early death. |
| Atypical progeria syndromes (APS) | Various heterozygous missense mutations in <i>LMNA</i> , which are not associated with the production of progerin. These include heterozygous missense <i>LMNA</i> mutations, such as, P4R, E111K, D136H, E159K, and C588R. | Associated with different progeroid features including one or more of the following: short stature, partial alopecia, diabetes, lipodystrophy and mandibular hypoplasia, and cardio- vascular disease. |
| Atypical Werner's syndrome (AWS) | Autosomal dominant mutations A133L mutation in <i>LMNA</i> . Effect on protein is unknown, but may lead to changes in protein-protein interactions. | Late onset premature aging, atherosclerosis, sclerodermatous skin, prematurel grey hair. |
| Restrictive dermopathy (RD) | Mutations in exon 11 of <i>LMNA</i> and /or homozygous or compound heterozygous mutations in <i>ZMPSTE24</i> . These result in the formation of permanently farnesylated prelamin A. | Loss of fat tissue, tight skin, pulmonary hypoplasia, early lethality. |
| Charcot–Marie–Tooth disease, type 2B1 | Autosomal recessive missense mutations in the lamin A rod domain that may affect lamin assembly. | Weakness and areflexia of lower limbs |
| Generalized lipodystrophy | Autosomal dominant mutations I10T and heterozygous substitution in exon 1 c.29C>T, in <i>LMNA</i> with unknown effects on lamin A. | lipodystrophy or lipoatrophy, may include diabetes and a progeroid phenotype |

Table 1: Showing Nuclear Lamin Diseases, Function and Phenotypes

Source: Semantic Scholars | Butin-Israeli et al, 2012

1.8 Drosophila as A Model Organism

The fruit fly Drosophila melanogaster has two lamin genes, Lamin C and Lamin Dm₀, that evolved from a single ancestral gene and are homologous to both the LMNA (LamA/C) and LamB genes in humans, and many of the disease-causing mutations in LMNA are conserved in both LamC and Lam Dm₀ (Sullivan et al., 1999). Studies using flies have been instrumental in our understanding of lamin functions. Lamin subtypes in Drosophila interact with various nuclear partners to carry out their functions (Glass et al., 1993). Lamin Dm₀ interacts with a multitude of proteins involved in nuclear envelope organization, nuclear import/export, and chromatin regulation. These actions contribute to the maintenance of nuclear architecture and the regulation of gene expression (Sullivan et al., 1999). Lamin C also interacts with specific nuclear partners, including transcription factors and chromatin modifiers, to regulate gene expression and chromatin organization (Sobotka-Briner et al. 1992). The expression and localization of lamin subtypes in Drosophila are tightly regulated at the transcriptional and post-translational levels. Transcription factors and signaling pathways play important roles in controlling the expression of lamin subtypes during development and in response to environmental cues (Pan et al., 2007). Post-translational modifications, such as phosphorylation and proteolytic cleavage, also regulate the stability, localization, and function of lamin subtypes (Taniura et al., 1995).

The expression patterns of lamin subtypes in Drosophila vary across different developmental stages and tissues. During early embryonic development, lamin Dm_0 is abundantly expressed in the nuclei of all somatic cells (Burke *et al.*, 1999). As development progresses, lamin Dm_0 expression becomes restricted to the somatic cells of the developing central nervous system and epidermis (Sobotka-Briner *et al.*, 1992). In contrast, lamin C expression is initially low but



Figure 1b. Showing the nuclear pore complex and lamin interaction together with other lamin associated proteins.

while LamC is not expressed in neurons (Andres *et al.*, 2007), suggesting that Lam Dm_0 in muscles and neurons has both A- and B-type lamin functions. Loss of function studies using genetic mutants and RNA interference techniques have revealed distinct roles for lamin Dm0 and lamin C in nuclear organization, nuclear morphology, and chromatin organization (SobotkaBriner *et al.*, 1992). Lamin C has been well studied in nuclear organization and gene regulation in both embryonic, larval, and adult tissues (Sobotka-Briner *et al.*, 1992). Additionally, lamin C has been implicated in the modulation of chromatin accessibility and the regulation of gene expression during development and aging (Sobotka-Briner *et al.*, 1992). Lamin Dm₀, which is less well studied, has been shown to be essential for maintaining nuclear shape and integrity during early embryonic development (Lombardi *et al.*, 2011). Further investigations into the precise mechanisms underlying the functions of lamin subtypes in Drosophila will deepen our understanding of nuclear architecture and its impact on cellular processes. Studies in both humans and flies have found that mutant lamin proteins aggregate (Glass *et al.*, 1993), which may be toxic to the cells. Recently, the Vrailas-Mortimer lab has found that wild-type Lam Dm₀ aggregates with age and that this is regulated by the aging gene p38 MAPK (p38Kb) (VrailasMortimer *et al.*, 2011). In addition, p38Kb regulates Lam Dm₀ degradation through an interaction with the Chaperone-Assisted Selective Autophagy (CASA) complex, a quality control mechanism that targets damaged/misfolded proteins for degradation through the autolysosomal pathway (Taniura *et al.*, 1995).

1.9 The p38Kb Pathway and The Chaperone Assisted Selective Autophagy (CASA) complex.

The p38K pathway is a signaling cascade that is activated in response to cellular stressors, including oxidative stress, heat shock, and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress ((Davis *et al.*, 2008). The pathway consists of a series of protein kinases that are activated sequentially, ultimately leading to the phosphorylation of downstream targets and the activation of various cellular responses (Kapinos *et al.*, 2011). In the context of protein aggregates, p38K signaling can be activated by several mechanisms. One mechanism is through the activation of the unfolded protein response (UPR), which is a cellular stress response pathway that is triggered by the accumulation of misfolded proteins in the ER ((Davis *et al.*, 2008).). The UPR can activate p38K signaling, which in turn regulates the expression of chaperone proteins, such as heat shock proteins, that help to refold or degrade misfolded proteins (Berman *et al.*, 2001). Additionally, p38K signaling can be activated by oxidative stress, which is commonly associated with protein aggregation (Berman *et al.*, 2001). Oxidative stress can result in the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which

can damage proteins and promote their misfolding and aggregation ((Davis *et al.*, 2008).). The activation of p38K by oxidative stress can lead to the phosphorylation and activation of transcription factors that regulate the expression of genes involved in protein quality control and clearance (Kapinos *et al.*, 2011). Furthermore, p38K signaling can modulate the activity of molecular chaperones and proteolytic systems involved in protein aggregate clearance (VrailasMortimer *et. al.*, 2011). For example, p38Kb can phosphorylate and activate heat shock factor 1

(HSF1), a transcription factor that regulates the expression of heat shock proteins (Berman *et al.*, 2001). Heat shock proteins are molecular chaperones that assist in protein folding and can also promote the clearance of protein aggregates. Overall, the p38K signaling pathway plays a critical role in the cellular response to protein misfolding and aggregation. By regulating the expression of chaperones, proteolytic systems, and other stress-responsive genes, p38K signaling helps to maintain protein homeostasis and prevent the accumulation of toxic protein aggregates in tissues. Dysregulation of this pathway can contribute to the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases and other protein aggregation-related disorders (Vrailas-Mortimer *et. al.*, 2011).

The CASA complex is made up of a network of proteins that work together to identify and deliver cargo for degradation via autophagy (Berman *et al.*, 2001). The Chaperones Hsp70 and HspB8 can detect abnormal protein structures or misfolded proteins and refold them. The cochaperone BAG3, improves chaperone action and makes it easier to recognize client proteins. The adaptor protein p62/SQSTM1, functions as links between chaperones and the autophagosomal membrane, enabling cargo engulfment and subsequent destruction (Kapinos *et al.*, 2011). CASA complex-mediated selective autophagy encompasses several distinct pathways, including aggrephagy (Berman *et al.*, 2001). Aggrephagy attacks protein clumps that have developed because

of cellular stress, mutation, or improper protein folding ((Davis *et al.*, 2008).). Toxic aggregates are removed and sequestered with the help of CASA complex proteins, such as p62/SQSTM1 and BAG3, which reduce proteotoxic stress and preserve cellular homeostasis (Kapinos *et al.*, 2011). For cellular health to be maintained and the buildup of harmful substances to be avoided, the appropriate operation of CASA complex-mediated selective autophagy is essential. Numerous neurodegenerative conditions, such as Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, and Huntington's illnesses, and even laminopathies have been linked to dysregulation of this process, where abnormal protein aggregates are a part of the pathology of the illness (Davis *et al.*, 2008). Aside from that, alterations in mitophagy have been linked to cellular aging and illnesses of old age (Kapinos *et al.*, 2011).



Figure 1c.: Model of chaperone assisted selective autophagy (CASA) complex. The CASA complex works in protein homeostasis through the identification and targeting of misfolded or damaged proteins for lysosomal degradation. We hypothesize that p38Kb interacts with the CASA complex to regulate aggregation of Lamin within the adult muscle of Drosophila.

Literature Review

One outstanding question is how distinct mutations in the Lamin genes result in such different disorders, as these proteins play a critical role in nuclear shape and are expressed in most cell types. In addition, these different lamin mutations can result in proteins that aggregate (Vrailas-Mortimer *et. al.*, 2011), I hypothesize that certain tissues are susceptible to specific lamin mutations due to the inability of tissue-specific quality control mechanisms to degrade those mutant forms, leading to protein aggregation and cellular toxicity. I also hypothesize that the CASA complex will degrade the muscular dystrophy mutant proteins but not the CMT mutants when expressed in neurons resulting in CMT.

However, the CMT mutant proteins will be degraded but not the muscular dystrophy mutants when the lamin mutations are expressed in muscles resulting in diseased muscles or muscular dystrophy. This is because the CASA-complex changes the folding of the mutant lamin proteins and how they interact with the CASA-complex. Thus, the tissue specificity may be due to tissue-specific quality control mechanisms that are responsible for degrading lamin, and the inability of these specific mechanisms to degrade certain mutant forms of lamin leads to the formation of toxic aggregates and disease symptoms. Therefore, I will test the muscles and neurons of flies, if p38Kb can also regulate the degradation of lamin mutations that give rise to muscular dystrophy and/or neuropathy. I also hypothesize that in the muscle, the muscular dystrophycausing mutant Lamin proteins will aggregate while the neuropathy mutant proteins will be degraded. In addition, in the neurons, the neuropathy mutant proteins will aggregate, and the muscular dystrophy proteins will be degraded in the neurons of the flies. Thus, it explains why some mutations give rise to muscle disorders and others give rise to neurological disorders.

| Human | lam C | lamDm0 | Disease |
|-------|-------|--------|------------------------|
| R298C | K313C | R320C | СМТ |
| | | | primary dilated |
| L162P | A177P | L184P | cardiomyopathy |
| R190W | R205W | R212W | CMT and cardiomyopathy |
| | | | CMD (Congenital |
| G449V | G489V | G481V | muscular dystrophy) |
| | | | Striated muscle |
| L489P | V528P | 1522P | laminopathy |

Table 2. Showing the various mutant forms of lamin in Flies (LamC and LamDm0) and inHumans with their corresponding Tissue-specific Disorders. However, we do not know themolecular mechanisms underlying how mutations in lamin affects these individuals.

To test if different lamin mutations aggregate in the muscle and motor neurons I used western blotting to quantify the levels of accumulation of lamin in mutant lamin. I also tested how lamin mutations affected locomotive functions and longevity of the lamin mutant flies. Results from western blotting revealed increased levels of lamin in mutant flies. Result from western blotting showed that mutations in lamin affect the ratio of post-translational modification (farnesylation) in flies. Mutant lamin flies with increased levels of farnesylation had the worse locomotive function and reduced lifespan after performing behavioral and longevity assays, respectively.

CHAPTER II: MATERIALS AND METHODS

The UAS-GAL4 System

In Drosophila research, the UAS-GAL4 system was a potent instrument that transformed the fields of genetics and developmental biology. This technology enables the study of gene function and the exploration of numerous biological processes by allowing researchers to control gene expression in a precise and spatiotemporal manner. It has been essential in increasing our knowledge of Drosophila development and has laid the path for numerous other organisms' findings as well. The upstream activation sequence (UAS) and the GAL4 transcription factor are the two primary parts of the UAS-GAL4 system. A DNA sequence that has the ability to bind to the GAL4 transcription factor makes up the UAS element. GAL4, on the other hand, is a yeast transcription factor that, upon binding to the UAS element, can initiate gene expression. Researchers have created a flexible mechanism to regulate gene expression in Drosophila by fusing these two elements.

The UAS element is positioned upstream of the target gene in the UAS-GAL4 system, and a tissuespecific promoter regulates the expression of the GAL4 transcription factor. The GAL4 protein attaches to the UAS element when these two components are together, activating gene expression. By regulating the expression of GAL4, this approach enables researchers to selectively activate or repress gene expression in particular tissues or at developmental stages.

The versatility and specificity of the UAS-GAL4 system are two of its key benefits. Researchers can focus on cell types or tissues of interest because GAL4 expression can be regulated by several tissue-specific promoters. This specificity allows for the research of gene function in a specific setting, revealing valuable information about the function of genes in many biological processes.

The molecular processes underpinning development, behavior, and disease can be uncovered by carefully regulating the expression of genes.

The UAS-GAL4 system also enables temporal regulation of gene expression. Researchers can precisely control when gene expression is activated or repressed by employing temperature sensitive GAL4 variations or the Gal80 repressor, which can limit GAL4 activity. This temporal control is crucial for investigating dynamic processes during development or increasing gene expression at stages to get around potential developmental flaws. In research on Drosophila, the UAS-GAL4 system has been extensively utilized to examine a variety of biological issues. The patterning of the body plan, the formation of organs, and the determination of cell destiny are just a few examples of how it has shed light on developmental processes. Additionally, the system has proven crucial in revealing the genetic underpinnings of behavior, including learning and memory, circadian rhythms, and social interactions. Furthermore, the UAS-GAL4 system has been used to model diseases, enabling researchers to learn more about the molecular causes of numerous human diseases. The UAS-GAL4 system has been modified for use in research on zebrafish, mice, and even plants in addition to Drosophila. This illustrates the extensive use and significance of this potent genetic weapon. The UAS-GAL4 system has sped up scientific advancement and paved the door for the creation of innovative medicines and interventions by enabling precise control over gene expression. In conclusion, the UAS-GAL4 system in Drosophila has transformed genetics and developmental biology. Researchers have been able to explore gene activity and elucidate the molecular mechanisms behind many biological processes thanks to its flexibility, selectivity, and temporal control. The UAS-GAL4 system has significantly impacted numerous fields of biological study and advanced our understanding of Drosophila development. This technology holds enormous potential for new discoveries and uses in the years to come as it develops.



Figure 2: UAS-GAL4 system. To activate the desired transgene, the GAL4 serves as a driver. A tissue-specific promoter that is located upstream of GAL4 enables transgene expression at a specified time or location. A second transgene upstream of the sequence for a gene of interest or

RNAi for the gene of interest contains the UAS site (Upstream Activator Sequence, or UAS). To promote production of the transgene encoding the desired gene of interest, the GAL4 protein must first bind to the UAS site in a particular tissue.

Western Blotting

To quantify accumulation of main forms of lamin (75kDa) and farnesylated (100kDa) forms of lamin in the mutant flies. Western blots were performed on lysates from thoraxes or heads of three virgin female flies of each lamin mutant genotypes. As each of the lamin mutant proteins have been tagged with HA, I dissected three thoraxes each for every mutant lamin flies. I homogenized the tissues in 30ul of SB buffer, and I probed with anti HA to detect differences in lamin mutant expression as compared to expression of wild type lamin. The specific HA antibody I used was the mouse HA 12CA5 with a catalogue number of MA1-12429 from thermos fisher. Alpha tubulin loading control was used to compare the expression of the mutant forms of lamin in the flies. These experiments were performed in triplicate.

Fly Climbing (Behavior Assay)

To determine if increased accumulation and aggregation of lamin in the muscle and neurons affects locomotor functions in the flies, I performed the fly climbing behavior assay. This assay specifically employed the negative geotaxis approach, so I tapped flies to the bottom of a chamber, then calculated the proportion of flies that reach the top within a predetermined time. Flies were aged for 1, 3 and 5 weeks respectively. 10 duplicates of flies per genotypes were collected into vials containing food and kept in an incubator at 25C. Food were changed at least twice each week. The climbing abilities of each duplicate per genotype were tested after weeks 1, 3 and 5. Proportion of flies were calculated by counting the number of flies at the top after 5, 10 and 20 seconds I tested 20 replicates of 10 flies at 1 week, 3 weeks, and 5 weeks of age for each genotype. in mutant forms of lamin will restore the locomotive functions and abilities in Mutant lamin flies.

Lifespan Assays

As described in (Vrailas-Mortimer et. al., 2011), all lifespan experiments were conducted with virgin females and males at 25 degrees Celsius using Genesee molasses formulation food. All lamin mutant crosses were completed in bottles at 25 degrees Celsius. Flies were transferred to new vials atleast twice each week. Vials were organized in replicates of 10 flies. 10 duplicates of flies per genotypes were collected into vials containing food and kept in an incubator at 25C. Food was changed at least twice each week. The longevity of each duplicate per genotype was tested after weeks 1, 3 and 5. The longevity of flies was calculated by counting the number of flies alive after each week. Death was recorded weekly and plotted.

Sucrose Gradient Fractionation

To determine the exact location in the tissues where Farnesylated and main forms of lamin are aggregating in the cell. 30 adult muscles and thoracic ganglion tissue from three-week-old females of each genotype were tested. 10% to 50% sucrose gradients were made and Lysate samples contain a mixture of different size macromolecules were layered on the surface of a gradient whose density increases linearly from top to bottom and then placed in ultracentrifuge at 55000rpm for 20hours at 4C. The pellets were, however, resuspended in 200ul of the buffer.

CHAPTER III: RESULTS

Mutations in Lamin affect the ratio of farnesylated to unfarnesylated lamin when expressed in the muscle.

Wildtype or mutant lamin tagged with HA was expressed in the muscle and flies were collected at 1 week of age. Lysates were probed for the presence of lamin. 2 forms of lamins (Figure 3.1a). Probing with HA antibody revealed the main forms of lamin at 75kDa and the farnesylated form of lamin at 100kDa (Figure 3.1a). This suggests that mutations in lamin undergo a form of post-translational modification known as farnesylation which could also contribute to tissue-specific disorders (Sobotka-Brine *et al.*, 1992) and subsequently influencing the longevity and behavior of flies. Densitometry analysis was done using photoshop and ImageJ to quantify the ratio between the main forms and farnesylated Lamins in flies (Figure 3.1b). The CMD, CM and CMT mutations had the highest levels of farnesylation. This indicates that more of the Lamins at the 75kDa are getting farnesylated in the muscles as a result of these mutations.





Figure 3. 1a: Mutant Forms of Lamin Have Different Protein Expression Levels in The Muscles Immunoblot analysis of muscle lysate from control (w1118) or transgenic expression of HA-tagged WT or mutant Lam Dm0. The main species of WT Lam Dm0 is ~74kDa. The Lam Dm0 R212W mutation results in a slightly higher molecular weight band. A longer exposure reveals the 100kDa form of Lam Dm0. Alpha tubulin loading control. These data suggest that disease mutations in Lam Dm0 that cause CMT, cardiomyopathy, and skeletal myopathies affect the protein in different ways when expressed in muscle tissue. n= pooled thoraxes of 3 flies per genotype of 1 week old female flies. **1b.** Densitometry analysis of western blotting.
Fly climbing assay was performed to determine how the mutant lamin forms affected the longevity of the flies. It was observed that the CMD, CM and CMT mutants, which had increased farnesylation, were impaired at earlier ages and expression of the other mutant lamins become impaired later (Figure 3.2).



Fly Climbing Abiliy For 1 Week Old Flies after 5 secs



Fly Climbing Ability For 3 Weeks Old Flies after 10 secs



Figure 3.2 : Lamin mutation affects Locomotive and Flight functions in Female flies.

- A. Negative geotaxis analysis showing the proportion of 1 week old Female flies at the top after 5 seconds.
- B. Negative geotaxis analysis showing the proportion of 3 weeks old Female flies at the top after 10 seconds.
- C. Negative geotaxis analysis showing the proportion of 5 weeks old Female flies at the top after 20 seconds.

Lifespan analysis was performed to determine how the mutant lamin forms affected the longevity of the flies. And also, to test if increased levels of farnesylation further reduced

longevity. This data suggests that the farnesylated mutants are impaired more quickly and the

other mutants catch up later (Figure 3.3).

Lamin Mutation affects longevity in female flies with HA-tag



Figure 3.3: Lamin Mutation affects longevity in female flies with HA-tag.

.

Mutant lamin female flies tagged with HA started showing reduced lifespan after 3.

Mutations were deleterious after week 5, further reducing lifespan of flies. 10 flies per genotypes were collected in 10 replicates. Death was observed and counted each week.

Distribution of fly climbing is affected by Lamin mutants without HA-tag



Fly Climbing Ability of Females (No-HA) after Weeks 3 and 5



Figure 3.4: Distribution of fly climbing is affected by Lamin mutants without HA-tag.

a. Mutant lamin female flies without HA-tag started showed reduced locomotive functions

- after 3 and week 5. 10 flies per genotypes were collected in 10 replicates. Climbing ability was tested and calculated each week.
 - b. Mutant lamin male flies without HA-tag started showed reduced locomotive functions after 3 and week 5. 10 flies per genotypes were collected in 10 replicates. Climbing ability was tested and calculated each week.

Lamin Mutation reduces longevity in female and male flies with no HA-tag

Fly Climbing ability was also tested on lamin mutant flies with HA-tag removed. This was

done because tags are known to cause proteins to aggregate when expressed in tissues so I

performed this experiment to determine if the tags causes further impairment in the muscles of

flies. Most of the genotypes had slow climbing activities when HA-tag was removed (Figure 3.4). It changed the behavior of the flies (Figure 3.4) Apart from slowing down the rate at which flies climbed, the climbing patterns were opposite to what was seen in the flies with the HA-tag. The CMD, CM and CMT mutant lines recorded some of the best climbing. Figure 3.2. This data suggests that the HA-tags might be located at a site very much important for the Lamin protein's activity, and its addition can cause changes in the protein's behavior or lead to loss of function.



Figure 3.5a: Lamin Mutation reduces longevity in female flies with no HA -tag

Mutant lamin female flies without HA-tag started showing reduced lifespan after 3. Mutations were deleterious after week 5, further reducing lifespan of flies. 10 flies per genotypes were collected in 10 replicates. Death was observed and counted each week.



Figure 3.5b: Lamin Mutation reduces longevity in male flies with no HA-tag.

Mutant lamin male flies without HA-tag started showing reduced lifespan after 3. Mutations were deleterious after week 5, further reducing lifespan of flies.

Survival analyses were also performed on lamin flies without HA-tag. Lamin wild-type together with the Cardiomyopathy mutant flies had the worst survival when HA-tag was removed. This data suggests that the HA-tags may be in a region critical for the Lamin protein's activity, and its addition can cause changes in the protein's behavior or lead to loss of function. That was probably why the wild-type flies had the worst climbing when HA-tag was removed. This was the exact

opposite of what was observed in lamin mutant flies with HA-tag. The best survival was shared between the W^{1118} and lam WT control flies, followed by SML and CM + CMT mutant flies.

CHAPTER IV: DISCUSSION

Farnesylation affects lamin mutant flies leading to tissue-specific pathologies (Azibani et al., 2014). Farnesylation is a post-translational modification process that involves the addition of a farnesyl lipid group to a protein (Sobotka-Brine et al., 1992). One protein undergoing farnesylation is Lamin, an important component of the nuclear lamina (Azibani et al., 2014). Mutations or alterations in the farnesylation of Lamin can lead to tissue-specific disorders, primarily affecting tissues with high rates of cell division and mechanical stress (Azibani et al., 2014). It is important to note that tissue-specific disorders resulting from farnesylation abnormalities in Lamin may also involve other factors, such as cell type-specific gene expression patterns, tissue-specific mechanical stress, and interactions with other proteins (Sobotka-Brine et al., 1992). The precise mechanisms underlying these disorders are still being investigated, and further research is needed to fully understand the complex relationship between Lamin farnesylation and tissue-specific pathology. I found out that increased farnesylation in flies resulted in reduced longevity and slower fly climbing behavior. However, based on this existing knowledge, we can hypothesize that increased levels of farnesylation could potentially exacerbate the effects of lamin mutations or alterations in tissue-specific pathologies. If lamin is excessively farnesylated due to increased farnesyltransferase activity or altered farnesylation regulation, it could lead to the accumulation of abnormal lamin proteins and further compromise nuclear structure and function.

The HA tag is a commonly used epitope tag that is added to proteins to facilitate their detection and purification in laboratory experiments. It consists of a short amino acid sequence derived from the influenza hemagglutinin protein. When the HA tag is added to a protein, it allows researchers to specifically target and study that protein using antibodies or other

affinitybased methods. The addition of an HA tag to a protein does not usually interfere with its normal function or stability However, the tags might be in a region critical for the protein's activity, and its addition can cause changes in the protein's behavior or lead to loss of function. This manipulation can potentially impact the expression level or regulation of the protein, leading to unintended consequences. The addition of the HA tag could also affect the protein's half-life, cellular localization, or interactions with other molecules. Fly climbing assay was also performed on lamin mutant flies without HA-tag (both male and female adults). It was also observed that the male lamin mutant flies without HA-tag had better climbing activities as against their corresponding females (Figure 3.4). However, there was a similar climbing pattern across males and female mutant flies without the HA-tag.

Mutant flies with the highest levels of farnesylated lamin (Congenital muscular dystrophy, cardiomyopathy, and Charcot Marie Tooth disease, Figure 3.1a and b) had impaired climbing after week 1. The rest of the mutant lamin forms caught up with the impairment as flies aged to 3 and 5 weeks. This data suggests that the farnesylated mutant impairs quickly and the rest catches up later. A similar pattern was seen in their lifespan as well (Figure 3.4). The precise mechanisms by which Lamin mutations affect longevity are not yet fully understood. It was also interesting to see that the control (w¹¹¹⁸), CMT and CM mutant flies survived longer regardless of their slow climbing behavior (Figures 3.5a and 3.5b).

Given that these proteins play a crucial role in nuclear structure and are expressed in the majority of cell types, one unanswered puzzle is how diverse mutations in the Lamin genes cause such a variety of illnesses. The fact that these various lamin mutations can cause proteins to aggregate further supports my hypothesis that some tissues are more vulnerable to lamin mutations than others because tissue-specific quality control mechanisms cannot effectively degrade those

mutant forms, resulting in protein aggregation and cellular toxicity. Additionally, I propose that when produced in neurons and leading to CMT, the CASA complex will not degrade the CMT mutations but will instead degrade the mutant proteins for muscular dystrophy. This could be due to the lack of machinery to degrade lamin with neuropathy-causing lamin mutations in neurons, but not in muscle cells. This can be attributed to the differences in the cellular functions and requirements of these two cell types.

In the neurological system, neurons, which are highly specialized cells, are in charge of communicating and transferring electrical impulses. They differ from other cell types due to their particular traits and functional needs. One of the characteristics that sets neurons apart is their postmitotic nature, which means that once they have fully differentiated, they do not divide or go through considerable cell division. When compared to other cell types, neurons typically have lower turnover rates for lamin proteins (Sobotka-Brine *et al.*, 1992). In contrast to other cells, they do not actively destroy lamin proteins regularly (Azibani *et al.*, 2014). As a result, neurons may lack the required equipment to effectively break down and destroy the altered lamin proteins when lamin protein mutations, such as those that cause neuropathy, arise. This may cause the nuclear structure to be disturbed, an accumulation of abnormal lamin proteins, and ultimately neuropathy.

On the other hand, muscle cells, including skeletal, cardiac, and smooth muscle cells, are highly dynamic and undergo regular cycles of cell division, growth, and regeneration. They possess robust protein degradation machinery, including the ubiquitin-proteasome system and autophagy, to maintain cellular homeostasis and eliminate damaged or misfolded proteins (Sobotka-Brine *et al.*, 1992). These degradation systems help muscle cells clear out any mutated or abnormal lamin proteins that may arise (Azibani *et al.*, 2014), reducing the potential for laminrelated diseases. Overall, the differences in the degradation machinery between neurons and muscle cells reflect their distinct cellular functions, requirements, and metabolic activities. These variations in protein degradation pathways contribute to the differential susceptibilities of different cell types to lamin mutations and associated diseases.

Mutations in the human lamin A gene (LMNA) cause muscular dystrophies, type 2 Charcot-Marie Tooth disease, and premature aging diseases, among others, were studied in both humans and flies. (Muñoz-Alarcón et al, 2007). No viable mutations in human lamin B genes were known until recently when three single nucleotide mutations within the LMNB2 locus were found in lipodystrophy patients (Ascencio et al., 2012), and a duplication of the chromosomal region containing LMNB1 was correlated with human leukodystrophy (Bertrand et al., 2012). It remains a mystery how changes in proteins expressed in all cells selectively affect certain tissues and what molecular functions are performed by the differently expressed lamins. Since 1999, mutations in LMNA have been shown to cause several different inherited diseases. (Worman et al, 2004). Before these discoveries, the predominant functions of lamins A and C were thought to be to provide mechanical support to the nucleus and to anchor "silent" heterochromatin to the inner nuclear membrane (Sobotka-Brine et al., 1992). The discoveries linking lamins to inherited disorders have led to a new question: How do mutations in these proteins, expressed in nearly all differentiated somatic cells, cause different diseases, some of which are tissue-specific? This motivated and inspired my thesis topic to elucidate the mechanisms of how different lamin mutations affect tissues differently.

Investigators in the field have proposed two nonexclusive hypotheses to address this question. The "mechanical stress" hypothesis states that abnormalities in nuclear structure, which result from lamin mutations, lead to increased susceptibility to cellular damage by physical

stress. This hypothesis is supported by observations that fibroblasts from patients with lamin A/C mutations and transfected cells expressing the mutant proteins often have severe abnormalities in nuclear morphology and that fibroblasts from subjects with FPLD (familial partial lipodystrophy) are susceptible to damage by heat shock. (Worman *et al*, 2004). The "gene expression" hypothesis, which proposes that the nuclear envelope plays a role in tissue-specific gene expression that can be altered by mutations in lamins, is based primarily on observed interactions between the nuclear envelope and chromatin components (Ascencio *et al.*, 2012) . With reference to my data obtained, the mutation causes changes in the degradation of lamin protein and the way the proteins fold in various tissues. This could possibly be a combination of both the "mechanical stress" and "gene expression" hypotheses. These factors can, however, cause changes in the structure and function of lamin resulting in why the same lamin mutation aggregates differently when expressed in muscles and neurons of flies.

CHAPTER V: CONCLUSION

Lamin proteins interact with chromatin and contribute to the spatial organization of the genome within the nucleus (Azibani *et al.*, 2014). They help establish distinct nuclear compartments, such as heterochromatin and euchromatin domains, which can have different effects on gene expression (Bertrand *et al.*, 2012). The organization of chromatin within the nucleus can vary between different cell types, leading to cell type-specific gene expression patterns (Sobotka-Brine *et al.*, 1992). Lamin proteins directly interact with transcription factors and other regulatory proteins involved in gene expression (Azibani *et al.*, 2014). These interactions can affect the accessibility of specific genomic regions to transcription factors, influencing the transcriptional activity of genes (Azibani *et al.*, 2014). Lamin-mediated regulation of gene expression can differ between cell types, allowing for cell type-specific gene expression patterns in different contexts (Bertrand *et al.*, 2012). I found out that mutations in lamin expressed in the muscles of flies resulted in increased levels of farnesylation. Farnesylation is a post-translational modification that involves the addition of a 15-carbon farnesyl lipid group to the cysteine residue near the C-terminus of a protein.

Farnesylation plays a crucial role in protein localization and membrane association (Bertrand *et al.*, 2012). It is involved in the regulation of various cellular processes, including signal transduction, cell cycle progression, and protein-protein interactions (Sobotka-Brine *et al.*, 1992). Farnesylation is particularly important for proteins that are targeted to the cell membrane, such as certain small GTPases, which play a role in intracellular signaling pathways (SobotkaBrine *et al.*, 1992).

In humans, the abnormal farnesylation leads to the accumulation of a truncated and toxic form of Lamin A called progerin (Beck *et al.*, 1990). Progerin disrupts nuclear structure and

function, leading to premature aging symptoms and affecting various tissues, including skin, bone, and cardiovascular tissues (Azibani et al., 2014). The abnormal accumulation of prelamin A affects the nuclear structure, leading to severe skin abnormalities and restrictive lung disease (Beck et al., 1990). Emery-Dreifuss Muscular Dystrophy (EDMD) is also a muscular dystrophy characterized by muscle weakness and wasting joint contractures, and cardiac abnormalities (Beck et al., 1990). Mutations in the LMNA gene disrupt Lamin A/C farnesylation, leading to nuclear envelope abnormalities and altered gene expression in muscle and cardiac tissues (Beck et al., 1990). The tissue-specific effects primarily manifest in the skeletal and cardiac muscles. All these scenarios explain how farnesylation could potentially affect fly climbing activities and longevity. Therefore, an increased level of farnesylation from my data suggests that specific proteins involved in signaling pathways or membrane association are being modified with farnesyl groups at a higher rate. This can potentially impact the functionality and activity of these proteins, leading to alterations in various cellular processes and developmental pathways in the fruit fly resulting in reduced lifespan and longevity. Future experiments will focus on expressing lamin mutations in p38Kb mutant and p38Kb wild-type flies. I expect that overexpression of p38Kb in lamin mutant flies will result in rescuing behavioral and phenotypic functions in flies. I also anticipate that p38Kb through the interaction with the CASA-complex will help degrade the muscular dystrophy mutant proteins when expressed in neurons and vice versa when expressed in muscles. Likewise, the CMT mutant proteins will also be degraded when expressed in muscles.

REFERENCES

- Aaronson, R. P., and Blobel, G. (1975). Isolation of nuclear pore complexes in association with a lamina. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*72, 1007–1011. doi: 10.1073/pnas.72.3.1007
- Alsheimer, M., von Glasenapp, E., Schnolzer, M., Heid, H., and Benavente, R. (2000). Meiotic lamin C2: the unique amino-terminal hexapeptide GNAEGR is essential for nuclear envelope association. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 13120–13125. doi: 10.1073/pnas.240466597
- Andres, M.N., Pavlovic, M., Wismar, J., Schmitt, B., Eriksson, M., Kylsten, P., & Dushay, M.
 S.(2007) Characterization of lamin mutations Phenotypes in Drosophila and Comparison to Human Laminopathies. *JournalPLoS ONE*, 2(6); e532.
- Andrés, V., & González, J.M. (2009). Role of A-type lamins in signaling, transcription, and chromatin organization. The Journal of Cell Biology, 187, 945 957.
- Arimura, T., Helbling-Leclerc, A., Massart, C., Varnous, S., Niel, F., Lacene, E., et al. (2005).
 Mouse model carrying H222P-Lmna mutation develops muscular dystrophy and dilated cardiomyopathy similar to human striated muscle laminopathies. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 14, 155–169. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddi017

- Arimura, T., Sato, R., Machida, N., Bando, H., Zhan, D. Y., Morimoto, S., et al. (2010).
 Improvement of left ventricular dysfunction and of survival prognosis of dilated cardiomyopathy by administration of calcium sensitizer SCH00013 in a mouse model. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* 55, 1503–1505. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.10.065
- Asencio, C., Davidson, I.F., Santarella-Mellwig, R., Ly-Hartig, T.B., Mall, M., Wallenfang,
 M.R., Mattaj, I.W., & Gorjánácz, M. (2012). Coordination of Kinase and Phosphatase
 Activities by Lem4 Enables Nuclear Envelope Reassembly during Mitosis. Cell, 150, 122-135.
- Auguste, G., Gurha, P., Lombardi, R., Coarfa, C., Willerson, J. T., and Marian, A. J. (2018).
 Suppression of activated FOXO transcription factors in the heart prolongs survival in a mouse model of laminopathies. *Circ. Res.* 122, 678–692. doi: 1
- Azibani, F., Brull, A., Arandel, L., Beuvin, M., Nelson, I., Jollet, A., et al. (2018). Gene Therapy via trans-splicing for LMNA-related congenital muscular dystrophy. *Mol. Ther. Nucleic Acids* 10, 376–386. doi: 10.1016/j.omtn.2017.12.012
- Azibani, F., Muchir, A., Vignier, N., Bonne, G., and Bertrand, A. T. (2014). Striated muscle laminopathies. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 29C, 107–115. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2014.01.001 Banerjee, I., Zhang, J., Moore-Morris, T., Pfeiffer, E., Buchholz, K. S., Liu, A., et al. (2014). Targeted ablation of nesprin 1 and nesprin 2 from murine myocardium results in cardiomyopathy, altered nuclear morphology and inhibition of the biomechanical gene response. *PLoS Genet.* 10:e1004114. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1004114

- Barton, L. J., Soshnev, A. A., and Geyer, P. K. (2015). Networking in the nucleus: a spotlight on LEM-domain proteins. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 34, 1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2015.03.005
- Beck, L. A., Hosick, T. J., and Sinensky, M. (1990). Isoprenylation is required for the processing of the lamin A precursor. *J. Cell Biol*.110, 1489–1499. doi: 10.1083/jcb.110.5.1489
 Becker, P. E. (1972). Neues zur genetik und klassifikation der muskeldystrohien. *Humangenetik* 17, 1–22.
- Becker, P. E. (1986). Dominant autosomal muscular dystrophy with early contractures and cardiomyopathy (Hauptmann-Thannhauser). *Hum. Genet.* 74:184. doi: 10.1007/BF00282089
- Bengtsson, L., and Otto, H. (2008). LUMA interacts with emerin and influences its distribution at the inner nuclear membrane. *J. Cell Sci.* 121(Pt 4), 536–548. doi: 10.1242/jcs.019281
- Ben-Harush, K., Wiesel, N., Frenkiel-Krispin, D., Moeller, D., Soreq, E., Aebi, U., et al. (2009).
 The supramolecular organization of the C. elegans nuclear lamin filament. *J. Mol. Biol.* 386, 1392–1402. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2008.12.024
- Benjamin, D., Colombi, M., Moroni, C., and Hall, M. N. (2011). Rapamycin passes the torch: a new generation of mTOR inhibitors. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 10, 868–880. doi: 10.1038/nrd3531

- Berk, J. M., Simon, D. N., Jenkins-Houk, C. R., Westerbeck, J. W., Gronning-Wang, L. M., Carlson, C. R., et al. (2014). The molecular basis of emerin-emerin and emerin-BAF interactions. J. Cell Sci. 127(Pt 18), 3956–3969. doi: 10.1242/jcs.148247
- Bertrand, A. T., Renou, L., Papadopoulos, A., Beuvin, M., Lacene, E., Massart, C., et al. (2012).
 DelK32-lamin A/C has abnormal location and induces incomplete tissue maturation and severe metabolic defects leading to premature death. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 21, 1037–1048.
 doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddr534
- Bertrand, A. T., Ziaei, S., Ehret, C., Duchemin, H., Mamchaoui, K., Bigot, A., et al. (2014).
 Cellular micro-environments reveal defective mechanosensing responses and elevated
 YAP signaling in LMNA-mutated muscle precursors. *J. Cell Sci.* 127(Pt 13), 2873–2884.
 doi: 10.1242/jcs.144907
- Bione, S., Maestrini, E., Rivella, S., Manchini, M., Regis, S., Romei, G., et al. (1994).
 Identification of a novel X-linked gene responsible for Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy. *Nature Genet.* 8, 323–327. doi: 10.1038/ng1294-323
- Bonne, G., Di Barletta, M. R., Varnous, S., Becane, H., Hammouda, E. H., Merlini, L., et al. (1999). Mutations in the gene encoding lamin A/C cause autosomal dominant Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy. *Nature Genet.* 21, 285–288. doi: 10.1038/6799
- Bonne, G., and Quijano-Roy, S. (2013). Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy, laminopathies, and other nuclear envelopathies. *Handb. Clin. Neurol.* 113, 1367–1376. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-59565-2.00007-1

- Brown, S., Biben, C., Ooms, L. M., Maimone, M., McGrath, M. J., Gurung, R., et al. (1999a).
 The cardiac expression of striated muscle LIM protein 1 (SLIM1) is restricted to the outflow tract of the developing heart. *J. Mol. Cell Cardiol.* 31, 837–843. doi: 10.1006/jmcc.1998.0922
- Brown, S., McGrath, M. J., Ooms, L. M., Gurung, R., Maimone, M. M., and Mitchell, C. A. (1999b). Characterization of two isoforms of the skeletal muscle LIM protein 1, SLIM1. Localization of SLIM1 at focal adhesions and the isoform slimmer in the nucleus of myoblasts and cytoplasm of myotubes suggests distinct roles in the cytoskeleton and in nuclear-cytoplasmic communication. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 27083–27091. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.38.27083
- Burke, B., and Stewart, C. L. (2013). The nuclear lamins: flexibility in function. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 14, 13–24. doi: 10.1038/nrm3488
- Cartegni, L., di Bareletta, M. R., Barresi, R., Squarzoni, S., Sabatelli, P., Maraldi, N., et al. (1997).
 Heart-specific localization of emrin: new insights into Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 6, 2257–2264. doi: 10.1093/hmg/6.13.2257

- Cattin, M. E., Bertrand, A. T., Schlossarek, S., Le Bihan, M. C., Skov Jensen, S., Neuber, C., et al. (2013). Heterozygous LmnadelK32 mice develop dilated cardiomyopathy through a combined pathomechanism of haploinsufficiency and peptide toxicity. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 22, 3152–3164. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt172
- Cesarini, E., Mozzetta, C., Marullo, F., Gregoretti, F., Gargiulo, A., Columbaro, M., et al. (2015). Lamin A/C sustains PcG protein architecture, maintaining transcriptional repression at target genes. J. Cell Biol. 211, 533–551. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201504035
- Chakrabarti, A., and Pearce, J. M. S. (1981). Scapuloperoneal syndrome with cardiomyopathy: report of a family with autosomal dominant inheritance and unusual features. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiat.* 44, 1146–1152. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.44.12.1146
- Chang, W., Antoku, S., Ostlund, C., Worman, H. J., and Gundersen, G. G. (2015). Linker of nucleoskeleton and cytoskeleton (LINC) complex-mediated actin-dependent nuclear positioning orients centrosomes in migrating myoblasts. *Nucleus* 6, 77–88. doi: 10.1080/19491034.2015.1004947
- Chatzifrangkeskou, M., Le Dour, C., Wu, W., Morrow, J. P., Joseph, L. C., Beuvin, M., et al. (2016). ERK1/2 directly acts on CTGF/CCN2 expression to mediate myocardial fibrosis in cardiomyopathy caused by mutations in the lamin A/C gene. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 25, 2220–2233. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddw090

- Chatzifrangkeskou, M., Yadin, D., Marais, T., Chardonnet, S., Cohen-Tannoudji, M., Mougenot, N., et al. (2018). Cofilin-1 phosphorylation catalyzed by ERK1/2 alters cardiac actin dynamics in dilated cardiomyopathy caused by lamin A/C gene mutation. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 27, 3060–3078. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddy215
- Chi, Y. H., Haller, K., Peloponese, J.M. Jr., and Jeang, K. T. (2007). Histone acetyltransferase hALP and nuclear membrane protein hsSUN1 function in de-condensation of mitotic chromosomes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 27447–27458. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M703098200
- Choi, J. C., Muchir, A., Wu, W., Iwata, S., Homma, S., Morrow, J. P., et al. (2012).
 Temsirolimus activates autophagy and ameliorates cardiomyopathy caused by lamin A/C gene mutation. *Sci Transl Med* 4:144ra102. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3003875
- Coates, D. (2003). The angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE). *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 35, 769–773. doi: 10.1016/S1357-2725(02)00309-6
- Coffinier, C., Jung, H. J., Li, Z., Nobumori, C., Yun, U. J., Farber, E. A., et al. (2010). Direct synthesis of lamin A, bypassing prelamin a processing, causes misshapen nuclei in fibroblasts but no detectable pathology in mice. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 20818–20826. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.128835
- Cohen, T. V., Gnocchi, V. F., Cohen, J. E., Phadke, A., Liu, H., Ellis, J. A., et al. (2013).
 Defective skeletal muscle growth in lamin A/C-deficient mice is rescued by loss of Lap2alpha. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 22, 2852–2869. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt135

- Collins, C. M., Ellis, J. A., and Holaska, J. M. (2017). MAPK signaling pathways and HDAC3 activity are disrupted during differentiation of emerin-null myogenic progenitor cells.
 Dis. Model Mech. 10, 385–397. doi: 10.1242/dmm.028787
- Cottle, D. L., McGrath, M. J., Wilding, B. R., Cowling, B. S., Kane, J. M., D'Arcy, C. E., et al. (2009). SLIMMER (FHL1B/KyoT3) interacts with the proapoptotic protein Siva-1 (CD27BP) and delays skeletal myoblast apoptosis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 26964–26977. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.036293
- Cowling, B. S., McGrath, M. J., Nguyen, M. A., Cottle, D. L., Kee, A. J., Brown, S., et al. (2008). Identification of FHL1 as a regulator of skeletal muscle mass: implications for human myopathy. *J. Cell Biol.* 183, 1033–1048. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200804077
- Crisp, M., Liu, Q., Roux, K., Rattner, J. B., Shanahan, C., Burke, B., et al. (2006). Coupling of the nucleus and cytoplasm: role of the LINC complex. J. Cell Biol. 172, 41–53. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200509124
- Croft, J. A., Bridger, J. M., Boyle, S., Perry, P., Teague, P., and Bickmore, W. A. (1999).
 Differences in the localization and morphology of chromosomes in the human nucleus. *J. Cell Biol.* 145, 1119–1131. doi: 10.1083/jcb.145.6.1119
- Cupesi, M., Yoshioka, J., Gannon, J., Kudinova, A., Stewart, C. L., and Lammerding, J. (2010). Attenuated hypertrophic response to pressure overload in a lamin A/C haploinsufficiency mouse. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 48, 1290–1297. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2009.10.024

- Davis, R. J. (1993). The mitogen-activated protein kinase signal transduction pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* 268, 14553–14556.
- Dechat, T., Adam, S. A., Taimen, P., Shimi, T., and Goldman, R. D. (2010). Nuclear lamins. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect Biol.* 2:a000547. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a000547
- Dechat, T., Korbei, B., Vaughan, O. A., Vlcek, S., Hutchison, C. J., and Foisner, R. (2000). Lamina-associated polypeptide 2alpha binds intranuclear A-type lamins. *J. Cell Sci.* 113 Pt 19, 3473–3484.
- Dedeic, Z., Cetera, M., Cohen, T. V., and Holaska, J. M. (2011). Emerin inhibits Lmo7 binding to the Pax3 and MyoD promoters and expression of myoblast proliferation genes. *J. Cell Sci.* 124(Pt 10), 1691–1702. doi: 10.1242/jcs.080259
 Demmerle, J., Koch, A. J., and Holaska, J. M. (2012). The nuclear envelope protein emerin binds directly

to histone deacetylase 3 (HDAC3) and activates HDAC3 activity. J. Biol.

Chem. 287, 22080–22088. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.325308

- Demmerle, J., Koch, A. J., and Holaska, J. M. (2013). Emerin and histone deacetylase 3 (HDAC3) cooperatively regulate expression and nuclear positions of MyoD, Myf5, and Pax7 genes during myogenesis. *Chromosome Res.* 21, 765–779. doi: 10.1007/s10577-013-9381-9
- Dhe-Paganon, S., Werner, E. D., Chi, Y. I., and Shoelson, S. E. (2002). Structure of the globular tail of nuclear lamin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 17381–17384. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C200038200

- Ding, X., Xu, R., Yu, J., Xu, T., Zhuang, Y., and Han, M. (2007). SUN1 is required for telomere attachment to nuclear envelope and gametogenesis in mice. *Dev Cell* 12, 863–872. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2007.03.018
- Domenighetti, A. A., Chu, P. H., Wu, T., Sheikh, F., Gokhin, D. S., Guo, L. T., et al. (2014). Loss of FHL1 induces an age-dependent skeletal muscle myopathy associated with myofibrillar and intermyofibrillar disorganization in mice. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 23, 209– 225. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt412
- Dreger, M., Bengtsson, L., Schoneberg, T., Otto, H., and Hucho, F. (2001). Nuclear envelope proteomics: Novel integral membrane proteins of the inner nuclear membrane. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 11943–11948. doi: 10.1073/pnas.211201898
- Dreifuss, F. E., and Hogan, G. R. (1961). Survival in X-chromosomal muscular dystrophy. *Neurology* 11, 734–737. doi: 10.1212/WNL.11.8.734
- DuBose, A. J., Lichtenstein, S. T., Petrash, N. M., Erdos, M. R., Gordon, L. B., and Collins, F. S. (2018). Everolimus rescues multiple cellular defects in laminopathy-patient fibroblasts. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 115, 4206–4211. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1802811115
- Dudley, D. T., Pang, L., Decker, S. J., Bridges, A. J., and Saltiel, A. R. (1995). A synthetic inhibitor of the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 92, 7686–7689. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.17.7686

- Ellis, J. A. (2006). Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy at the nuclear envelope: 10 years on. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* 63, 2702–2709. doi: 10.1007/s00018-006-6247-8
- Emery, A. E. (1989). Emery-Dreifuss syndrome. *J. Med. Genet.* 26, 637–641. doi: 10.1136/jmg.26.10.637
- Emery, A. E. H., and Dreifuss, F. E. (1966). Unusual type of benign X-linked muscular dystrophy. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiat.* 29, 338–342. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.29.4.338
 Farnsworth, C. C., Wolda, S. L., Gelb, M. H., and Glomset, J. A. (1989). Human lamin B contains a farnesylated cysteine residue. *J. Biol. Chem.* 264, 20422–20429.
- Fatkin, D., MacRae, C., Sasaki, T., Wolff, M. R., Porcu, M., Frenneaux, M., et al. (1999).
 Missense mutations in the rod domain of the lamin A/C gene as causes of dilated cardiomyopathy and conduction-system disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 341, 1715–1724. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199912023412302
- Favreau, C., Higuet, D., Courvalin, J. C., and Buendia, B. (2004). Expression of a mutant lamin A that causes Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy inhibits in vitro differentiation of C2C12 myoblasts. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 24, 1481–1492. doi: 10.1128/MCB.24.4.1481-1492.2004
- Fenichel, G. M., Sul, Y. C., Kilroy, A. W., and Blouin, R. (1982). An autosomal-dominant dystrophy with humeropelvic distribution and cardiomyopathy. *Neurology* 32, 1399– 1401. doi: 10.1212/WNL.32.12.1399

- Fisher, D. Z., Chaudhary, N., and Blobel, G. (1986). cDNA sequencing of nuclear lamins A and C reveals primary and secondary structural homology to intermediate filament proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 83, 6450–6454. doi: 10.1073/pnas.83.17.6450
- Fong, L. G., Ng, J. K., Lammerding, J., Vickers, T. A., Meta, M., Cote, N., et al. (2006).
 Prelamin, A., and lamin A appear to be dispensable in the nuclear lamina. *J. Clin. Invest.* 116, 743–752. doi: 10.1172/JCI27125
 Frangioni, J. V., and Neel, B. G. (1993). Use of a general purpose mammalian expression vector for studying intracellular protein targeting: identification of critical residues in the nuclear lamin A/C nuclear localization signal. *J. Cell Sci.* 105(Pt 2), 481–488.
- Franke, W. W., Dorflinger, Y., Kuhn, C., Zimbelmann, R., Winter-Simanowski, S., Frey, N., et al. (2014). Protein LUMA is a cytoplasmic plaque constituent of various epithelial adherens junctions and composite junctions of myocardial intercalated disks: a unifying finding for cell biology and cardiology. *Cell Tissue Res.* 357, 159–172. doi: 10.1007/s00441-014-1865-1
- Frock, R. L., Chen, S. C., Da, D. F., Frett, E., Lau, C., Brown, C., et al. (2012). Cardiomyocytespecific expression of lamin a improves cardiac function in Lmna-/- mice. *PLoS*
- Furukawa, K. (1999). LAP2 binding protein 1 (L2BP1/BAF) is a candidate mediator of LAP2chromatin interaction. J. Cell Sci. 112(Pt 15), 2485–2492.

- Furukawa, K., Inagaki, H., and Hotta, Y. (1994). Identification and cloning of an mRNA coding for a germ cell-specificA-type lamin in mice. *Exp. Cell Res.* 212, 426–430. doi: 10.1006/excr.1994.1164
- Gerace, L., Blum, A., and Blobel, G. (1978). Immunocytochemical localization of the major polypeptides of the nuclear pore complex-lamina fraction: Interphase and mitotic distribution. J. Cell. Biol. 79, 546–566. doi: 10.1083/jcb.79.2.546
- Gesson, K., Rescheneder, P., Skoruppa, M. P., von Haeseler, A., Dechat, T., and Foisner, R.
 (2016). A-type lamins bind both hetero- and euchromatin, the latter being regulated by lamina-associated polypeptide 2 alpha. *Genome Res.* 26, 462–473. doi: 10.1101/gr.196220.115
- Ghosh, S., Liu, B., Wang, Y., Hao, Q., and Zhou, Z. (2015). Lamin A is an endogenous SIRT6 activator and promotes SIRT6-mediated DNA repair. *Cell Rep.* 13, 1396–1406. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.10.006
- Gimpel, P., Lee, Y. L., Sobota, R. M., Calvi, A., Koullourou, V., Patel, R., et al. (2017). Nesprin1alpha-dependent microtubule nucleation from the nuclear envelope via Akap450 is necessary for nuclear positioning in muscle cells. *Curr Biol* 27, 2999–3009 e2999. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2017.08.031

- Glass, C., Glass, J.R., Taniura, H., Hasel, K.W., Blevitt, J.M., & Gerace, L. (1993). The alphahelical rod domain of human lamins A and C contains a chromatin binding site. The EMBO Journal, 12.
- Goldberg, M., Harel, A., Brandeis, M., Rechsteiner, T., Richmond, T.J., Weiss, A.M., &
 Gruenbaum, Y. (1999). The tail domain of lamin Dm0 binds histones H2A and H2B.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 96 6, 2852-7.
- Goldman, A. E., Maul, G., Steinert, P. M., Yang, H. Y., and Goldman, R. D. (1986). Keratin-like proteins that coisolate with intermediate filaments of BHK- 21 cells are nuclear lamins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 83, 3839–3843. doi: 10.1073/pnas.83.11.3839
- Gollerkeri, A., Harrold, L., Rose, M., Jain, D., and Burtness, B. A. (2001). Use of paclitaxel in patients with pre-existing cardiomyopathy: a review of our experience. *Int J Cancer* 93, 139–141. doi: 10.1002/ijc.1295
- Gonzalez-Suarez, I., Redwood, A. B., Grotsky, D. A., Neumann, M. A., Cheng, E. H., Stewart, C.
 L., et al. (2011). A new pathway that regulates 53BP1 stability implicates cathepsin L and vitamin D in DNA repair. *EMBO J.* 30, 3383–3396. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2011.225
- Greene, W. K., Baker, E., Rabbitts, T. H., and Kees, U. R. (1999). Genomic structure, tissue expression and chromosomal location of the LIM-only gene, SLIM1. *Gene* 232, 203– 207. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1119(99)00125-0

- Gruenbaum, Y., Margalit, A., Goldman, R. D., Shumaker, D. K., and Wilson, K. L. (2005). The nuclear lamina comes of age. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 6, 21–31. doi: 10.1038/nrm1550
- Guarda, A., Bolognese, F., Bonapace, I. M., and Badaracco, G. (2009). Interaction between the inner nuclear membrane lamin B receptor and the heterochromatic methyl binding protein, MeCP2. *Exp. Cell Res.* 315, 1895–1903.
- Guelen, L., Pagie, L., Brasset, E., Meuleman, W., Faza, M. B., Talhout, W., et al. (2008).
 Domain organization of human chromosomes revealed by mapping of nuclear lamina interactions. *Nature* 453, 948–951. doi: 10.1038/nature06947
- Gueneau, L., Bertrand, A. T., Jais, J. P., Salih, M. A., Stojkovic, T., Wehnert, M., et al. (2009).
 Mutations of the FHL1 gene cause Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 85, 338–353. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2009.07.015
- Guilluy, C., Osborne, L. D., Van Landeghem, L., Sharek, L., Superfine, R., Garcia-Mata, R., et al. (2014). Isolated nuclei adapt to force and reveal a mechanotransduction pathway in the nucleus. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 16, 376–381. doi: 10.1038/ncb2927
- Guo, Y., & Zheng, Y. (2015). Lamins position the nuclear pores and centrosomes by modulating dynein. Molecular Biology of the Cell, 26, 3379 3389.

- Hagan, I., and Yanagida, M. (1995). The product of the spindle formation gene sad1+ associates with the fission yeast spindle pole body and is essential for viability. *J. Cell Biol.* 129, 1033–1047. doi: 10.1083/jcb.129.4.1033
- Hale, C. M., Shrestha, A. L., Khatau, S. B., Stewart-Hutchinson, P. J., Hernandez, L., Stewart, C. L., et al. (2008). Dysfunctional connections between the nucleus and the actin and microtubule networks in laminopathic models. *Biophys. J.* 95, 5462–5475. doi: 10.1529/biophysj.108.139428
- Harapin, J., Bormel, M., Sapra, K. T., Brunner, D., Kaech, A., and Medalia, O. (2015). Structural analysis of multicellular organisms with cryo-electron tomography. *Nat. Methods* 12, 634–636. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.3401
- Hennen, J., Saunders, C. A., Mueller, J. D., and Luxton, G. W. G. (2018). Fluorescence fluctuation spectroscopy reveals differential SUN protein oligomerization in living cells. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 29, 1003–1011. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E17-04-0233
- Ho, C. Y., Jaalouk, D. E., and Lammerding, J. (2013a). Novel insights into the disease etiology of laminopathies. *Rare Dis* 1:e27002. doi: 10.4161/rdis.27002
- Ho, C. Y., Jaalouk, D. E., Vartiainen, M. K., and Lammerding, J. (2013b). Lamin A/C and emerin regulate MKL1-SRF activity by modulating actin dynamics. *Nature* 497, 507– 511. doi: 10.1038/nature12105

- Holaska, J. M., Rais-Bahrami, S., and Wilson, K. L. (2006). Lmo7 is an emerin-binding protein that regulates the transcription of emerin and many other muscle-relevant genes. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 15, 3459–3472. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddl423
- Holaska, J. M., and Wilson, K. L. (2007). An emerin "proteome": purification of distinct emerincontaining complexes from HeLa cells suggests molecular basis for diverse roles including gene regulation, mRNA splicing, signaling, mechanosensing, and nuclear architecture. *Biochemistry* 46, 8897–8908. doi: 10.1021/bi602636m
- Holt, I., Duong, N. T., Zhang, Q., Lam le, T., Sewry, C. A., Mamchaoui, K., et al. (2016).
 Specific localization of nesprin-1-alpha2, the short isoform of nesprin-1 with a KASH domain, in developing, fetal and regenerating muscle, using a new monoclonal antibody. *BMC Cell Biol.* 17:26. doi: 10.1186/s12860-016-0105-9
- Houben, F., Willems, C. H., Declercq, I. L., Hochstenbach, K., Kamps, M. A., Snoeckx, L. H., et al. (2009). Disturbed nuclear orientation and cellular migration in A-type lamin deficient cells. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1793, 312–324. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2008.10.003
- Huber, M. D., Guan, T., and Gerace, L. (2009). Overlapping functions of nuclear envelope proteins NET25 (Lem2) and emerin in regulation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase signaling in myoblast differentiation. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 29, 5718–5728. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00270-09

- Hutchison, C. J., Alvarez-Reyes, M., and Vaughan, O. A. (2001). Lamins in disease: why do ubiquitously expressed nuclear envelope proteins give rise to tissue-specific disease phenotypes? J. Cell Sci. 114(Pt 1), 9–19.
- Iyer, A., Koch, A. J., and Holaska, J. M. (2017). Expression profiling of differentiating emerinnull myogenic progenitor identifies molecular pathways implicated in their impaired differentiation. *Cells* 6:38. doi: 10.3390/cells6040038
- Jahed, Z., Fadavi, D., Vu, U. T., Asgari, E., Luxton, G. W. G., and Mofrad, M. R. K. (2018). Molecular insights into the mechanisms of SUN1 oligomerization in the nuclear envelope. *Biophys J.* 114, 1190–1203. doi: 10.1016/j.bpj.2018.01.015
- Jahn, D., Schramm, S., Schnolzer, M., Heilmann, C. J., de Koster, C. G., Schutz, W., et al. (2012). A truncated lamin A in the Lmna -/- mouse line: implications for the understanding of laminopathies. *Nucleus* 3, 463–474. doi: 10.4161/nucl.21676
- Janku, F., Yap, T. A., and Meric-Bernstam, F. (2018). Targeting the PI3K pathway in cancer: are we making headway? *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 15, 273–291. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2018.28
- Johnson, B. R., Nitta, R. T., Frock, R. L., Mounkes, L., Barbie, D. A., Stewart, C. L., et al. (2004). A-type lamins regulate retinoblastoma protein function by promoting subnuclear localization and preventing proteasomal degradation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 9677–9682. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0403250101

- Kadrmas, J. L., and Beckerle, M. C. (2004). The LIM domain: from the cytoskeleton to the nucleus. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 5, 920–931. doi: 10.1038/nrm1499
- Kapinos, L.E., Burkhard, P., Herrmann, H., Aebi, U., & Strelkov, S.V. (2011). Simultaneous formation of right- and left-handed anti-parallel coiled-coil interfaces by a coil2 fragment of human lamin A. Journal of molecular biology, 408 1, 135-46.
- Keshet, Y., and Seger, R. (2010). The MAP kinase signaling cascades: a system of hundreds of components regulates a diverse array of physiological functions. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 661, 3–38. doi: 10.1007/978-1-60761-795-2
- Ketema, M., and Sonnenberg, A. (2011). Nesprin-3: a versatile connector between the nucleus and the cytoskeleton. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 39, 1719–1724. doi: 10.1042/BST20110669
- Kim, Y., and Zheng, Y. (2013). Generation and characterization of a conditional deletion allele for Lmna in mice. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 440, 8–13. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.08.082
- Kind, J., Pagie, L., Ortabozkoyun, H., Boyle, S., de Vries, S. S., Janssen, H., et al. (2013).
 Single-cell dynamics of genome-nuclear lamina interactions. *Cell* 153, 178–192. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.02.028
- Kirby, T. J., and Lammerding, J. (2018). Emerging views of the nucleus as a cellular mechanosensor. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 20, 373–381. doi: 10.1038/s41556-018-0038-y

- Koch, A. J., and Holaska, J. M. (2014). Emerin in health and disease. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 29, 95–106. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2013.12.008
- Kolb, T., Maass, K., Hergt, M., Aebi, U., and Herrmann, H. (2011). Lamin, A., and lamin C form homodimers and coexist in higher complex forms both in the nucleoplasmic fraction and in the lamina of cultured human cells. *Nucleus* 2, 425–433. doi:
- Kosa, J. L., Michelsen, J. W., Louis, H. A., Olsen, J. I., Davis, D. R., Beckerle, M. C., et al.
 (1994). Common metal ion coordination in LIM domain proteins. *Biochemistry* 33, 468–477. doi: 10.1021/bi00168a011
- Krimm, I., Ostlund, C., Gilquin, B., Couprie, J., Hossenlopp, P., Mornon, J. P., et al. (2002). The Ig-like structure of the C-terminal domain of lamin a/c, mutated in muscular dystrophies, cardiomyopathy, and partial lipodystrophy. *Structure* 10, 811–823. doi: 10.1016/S0969-2126(02)00777-3
- Kubben, N., Voncken, J. W., Konings, G., van Weeghel, M., van den Hoogenhof, M.M. G.,
 Gijbels, M., et al. (2011). Post-natal myogenic and adipogenic developmental. Defects and metabolic impairment upon loss of A-type lamins. *Nucleus* 2, 1–13. doi: 10.4161/nucl.2.3.15731
- Lammerding, J., Hsiao, J., Schulze, P. C., Kozlov, S., Stewart, C. L., and Lee, R. T. (2005).
 Abnormal nuclear shape and impaired mechanotransduction in emerin-deficient cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 170, 781–791. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200502148
- Lammerding, J., Schulze, P. C., Takahashi, T., Kozlov, S., Sullivan, T., Kamm, R. D., et al. (2004). Lamin A/C deficiency causes defective nuclear mechanics and mechanotransduction. *J. Clin. Invest.* 113, 370–378. doi: 10.1172/JCI200419670 Lammerding, J., Fong, L.G., Ji, J.Y., Reue, K., Stewart, C.L., Young, S.G., & Lee, R.T. (2006). Lamins A and C but Not Lamin B1 Regulate Nuclear Mechanics*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 281, 25768 25780.
- Lanzuolo, C., and Orlando, V. (2012). Memories from the polycomb group proteins. *Annu Rev Genet* 46, 561–589. doi: 10.1146/annurev-genet-110711-155603
- Lattanzi, G., Ognibene, A., Sabatelli, P., Capanni, C., Toniolo, D., Columbaro, M., et al. (2000). Emerin expression at the early stages of myogenic differentiation. *Differentiation* 66, 208–217. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-0436.2000.660407.x
- Le Dour, C., Macquart, C., Sera, F., Homma, S., Bonne, G., Morrow, J. P., et al. (2017). Decreased WNT/beta-catenin signalling contributes to the pathogenesis of dilated cardiomyopathy caused by mutations in the lamin a/C gene. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 26, 333– 343. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddw389
- Lee, J. M., Nobumori, C., Tu, Y., Choi, C., Yang, S. H., Jung, H. J., et al. (2016). Modulation of LMNA splicing as a strategy to treat prelamin A diseases. *J. Clin. Invest.* 126, 1592–1602. doi: 10.1172/JCI85908

- Lee, J. S., Hale, C. M., Panorchan, P., Khatau, S. B., George, J. P., Tseng, Y., et al. (2007). Nuclear lamin A/C deficiency induces defects in cell mechanics, polarization, and migration. *Biophys J.* 93, 2542–2552. doi: 10.1529/biophysj.106.102426
- Lee, K. K., Haraguchi, T., Lee, R. S., Koujin, T., Hiraoka, Y., and Wilson, K. L. (2001). Distinct functional domains in emerin bind lamin A and DNA-bridging protein BAF. J. Cell Sci. 114(Pt 24), 4567–4573.
- Lee, S. M., Tsui, S. K., Chan, K. K., Garcia-Barcelo, M., Waye, M. M., Fung, K. P., et al. (1998). Chromosomal mapping, tissue distribution and cDNA sequence of four-and-ahalf LIM domain protein 1 (FHL1). *Gene* 216, 163–170. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1119(98)00302-3
- Lee, Y. K., Lau, Y. M., Cai, Z. J., Lai, W. H., Wong, L. Y., Tse, H. F., et al. (2017). Modeling treatment response for Lamin A/C related dilated cardiomyopathy in human induced pluripotent stem cells. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 6:e005677. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.117.005677
- Lei, K., Zhang, X., Ding, X., Guo, X., Chen, M., Zhu, B., et al. (2009). SUN1 and SUN2 play critical but partially redundant roles in anchoring nuclei in skeletal muscle cells in mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 10207–10212. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0812037106
- Liang, L., Zhang, H. W., Liang, J., Niu, X. L., Zhang, S. Z., Feng, L., et al. (2008). KyoT3, an isoform of murine FHL1, associates with the transcription factor RBP-J and represses the

RBP-J-mediated transactivation. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1779, 805–810. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagrm.2008.08.001

- Liang, W. C., Mitsuhashi, H., Keduka, E., Nonaka, I., Noguchi, S., Nishino, I., et al. (2011). TMEM43 mutations in emery-dreifuss muscular dystrophy-related
- Lin, F., and Worman, H. J. (1993). Structural organization of the human gene encoding nuclear lamin A and nuclear lamin C. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 16321–16326.
- Lombardi, M. L., Jaalouk, D. E., Shanahan, C. M., Burke, B., Roux, K. J., and Lammerding, J. (2011). The interaction between nesprins and sun proteins at the nuclear envelope is critical for force transmission between the nucleus and cytoskeleton. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 26743–26753. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.233700
- Lu, J. T., Muchir, A., Nagy, P. L., and Worman, H. J. (2011). LMNA cardiomyopathy: cell biology and genetics meet clinical medicine. *Dis. Model Mech.* 4, 562–568. doi: 10.1242/dmm.006346
- Lund, E., Oldenburg, A. R., Delbarre, E., Freberg, C. T., Duband-Goulet, I., Eskeland, R., et al. (2013). Lamin A/C-promoter interactions specify chromatin state-dependent transcription outcomes. *Genome Res.* 23, 1580–1589. doi: 10.1101/gr.159400.113

- Lund, E. G., Duband-Goulet, I., Oldenburg, A., Buendia, B., and Collas, P. (2015). Distinct features of lamin A-interacting chromatin domains mapped by ChIP-sequencing from sonicated or micrococcal nuclease-digested chromatin. *Nucleus* 6, 30–39. doi: 10.4161/19491034.2014.990855
- Luxton, G. W., and Starr, D. A. (2014). KASHing up with the nucleus: novel functional roles of KASH proteins at the cytoplasmic surface of the nucleus. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 28, 69–75. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2014.03.002
- Machiels, B. M., Zorenc, A. H., Endert, J. M., Kuijpers, H. J., van Eys, G. J., Ramaekers, F. C., et al. (1996). An alternative splicing product of the lamin A/C gene lacks exon 10. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 9249–9253. doi: 10.1074/jbc.271.16.9249
- Macquart, C., Juttner, R., Le Dour, C., Chatzifrangkeskou, M., Schmitt, A., Gotthardt, M., et al. (2018). Microtubule cytoskeleton regulates connexin 43 localization and cardiac conduction in cardiomyopathy caused by mutation in A-type lamins gene. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddy227. [Epub ahead of print].
- Mahen, R., Hattori, H., Lee, M., Sharma, P., Jeyasekharan, A. D., and Venkitaraman, A. R. (2013). A-type lamins maintain the positional stability of DNA damage repair foci in mammalian nuclei. *PLoS ONE* 8:e61893. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0061893

- Maik-Rachline, G., and Seger, R. (2016). The ERK cascade inhibitors: towards overcoming resistance. *Drug. Resist. Updat.* 25, 1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.drup.2015.12.001
- Malone, C. J., Fixsen, W. D., Horvitz, H. R., and Han, M. (1999). UNC-84 localizes to the nuclear envelope and is required for nuclear migration and anchoring during C. elegans development. *Development* 126, 3171–3181.
- Mancini, M. A., Shan, B., Nickerson, J. A., Penman, S., and Lee, W. H. (1994). The retinoblastoma gene product is a cell cycle-dependent, nuclear matrix-associated protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 418–422. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.1.418
- Manilal, S., Nguyen, T. M., Sewry, C. A., and Morris, G. E. (1996). The Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy protein, emerin, is a nuclear membrane protein. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 5, 801–808. doi: 10.1093/hmg/5.6.801
- Mansharamani, M., and Wilson, K. L. (2005). Direct binding of nuclear membrane protein
 MAN1 to emerin *in vitro* and two modes of binding to barrier-to-autointegration factor. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 13863–13870. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M413020200
- Manta, P., Terzis, G., Papadimitriou, C., Kontou, C., and Vassilopoulos, D. (2004). Emerin expression in tubular aggregates. *Acta Neuropathol* 107, 546–552. doi: 10.1007/s00401-004-0851-1

- Maraldi, N. M., Lattanzi, G., Capanni, C., Columbaro, M., Mattioli, E., Sabatelli, P., et al.
 (2006). Laminopathies: a chromatin affair. *Adv. Enzyme Regul.* 46, 33–49. doi: 10.1016/j.advenzreg.2006.01.001
- Markiewicz, E., Dechat, T., Foisner, R., Quinlan, R. A., and Hutchison, C. J. (2002). Lamin A/C binding protein LAP2alpha is required for nuclear anchorage of retinoblastoma protein.
 Mol. Biol. Cell 13, 4401–4413. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e02-07-0450
- Markiewicz, E., Tilgner, K., Barker, N., van de Wetering, M., Clevers, H., Dorobek, M., et al. (2006). The inner nuclear membrane protein emerin regulates beta-catenin activity by restricting its accumulation in the nucleus. *Embo J.* 25, 3275–3285. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7601230
- Maske, C. P., Hollinshead, M. S., Higbee, N. C., Bergo, M. O., Young, S. G., and Vaux, D. J. (2003). A carboxyl-terminal interaction of lamin B1 is dependent on the CAAX endoprotease Rce1 and carboxymethylation. *J. Cell Biol.* 162, 1223–1232. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200303113
- Mattout-Drubezki, A., and Gruenbaum, Y. (2003). Dynamic interactions of nuclear lamina proteins with chromatin and transcriptional machinery. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* 60, 2053– 2063. doi: 10.1007/s00018-003-3038-3

- McDonald, C. M., Campbell, C., Torricelli, R. E., Finkel, R. S., Flanigan, K. M., Goemans, N., et al. (2017). Ataluren in patients with nonsense mutation Duchenne muscular dystrophy (ACT DMD): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet* 390, 1489–1498. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31611-2
- McGrath, M. J., Cottle, D. L., Nguyen, M. A., Dyson, J. M., Coghill, I. D., Robinson, P. A., et al. (2006). Four and a half LIM protein 1 binds myosin-binding protein C and regulates myosin filament formation and sarcomere assembly. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 7666–7683. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M512552200
- McKeon, F. D., Kirschner, M. W., and Caput, D. (1986). Homologies in both primary and secondary structure between nuclear envelope and intermediate filament proteins. *Nature* 319, 463–468. doi: 10.1038/319463a0
- McKusick, V. A. (1971). X-linked muscular dystrophy, benign form with contractures. *Birth Defects Orig. Artic. Ser.* 1971, 113–115.
- Meinke, P., Mattioli, E., Haque, F., Antoku, S., Columbaro, M., Straatman, K. R., et al. (2014). Muscular dystrophy-associated SUN1 and SUN2 variants disrupt nuclear-cytoskeletal connections and myonuclear organization. *PLoS Genet* 10:e1004605. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1004605
- Meinke, P., & Schirmer, E.C. (2015). LINC'ing form and function at the nuclear envelope. FEBS Letters, 589.

- Melcon, G., Kozlov, S., Cutler, D. A., Sullivan, T., Hernandez, L., Zhao, P., et al. (2006). Loss of emerin at the nuclear envelope disrupts the Rb1/E2F and MyoD pathways during muscle regeneration. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 15, 637–651. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddi479
- Michelsen, J. W., Schmeichel, K. L., Beckerle, M. C., and Winge, D. R. (1993). The LIM motif defines a specific zinc-binding protein domain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 90, 4404– 4408. doi: 10.1073/pnas.90.10.4404
- Miller, R. G., Layzer, R. B., Mellenthin, M. A., Golabi, M., Francoz, R. A., and Mall, J. C. (1985). Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy with autosomal dominant transmission. *Neurology* 35, 1230–1233. doi: 10.1212/WNL.35.8.1230
- Mislow, J. M., Holaska, J. M., Kim, M. S., Lee, K. K., Segura-Totten, M., Wilson, K. L., et al. (2002). Nesprin-1alpha self-associates and binds directly to emerin and lamin A in vitro. *FEBS Lett.* 525, 135–140. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(02)03105-8
- Mounkes, L. C., Kozlov, S. V., Rottman, J. N., and Stewart, C.L. (2005). Expression of a LMNA-N195K variant of A-type lamins results in cardiac conduction defects and death in mice. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 14, 2167–2180. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddi221
- Muchir, A., Bonne, G., van der Kooi, A. J., van Meegen, M., Baas, F., Bolhuis, P. A., et al.
 (2000). Identification of mutations in the gene encoding lamins A/C in autosomal dominant limb girdle muscular dystrophy with atrioventricular conduction disturbances (LGMD1B). *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 9, 1453–1459. doi: 10.1093/hmg/9.9.1453

- Muchir, A., Pavlidis, P., Bonne, G., Hayashi, Y. K., and Worman, H.J. (2007a). Activation of MAPK in hearts of EMD null mice: similarities between mouse models of X-linked and autosomal dominant Emery Dreifuss muscular dystrophy. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 16, 1884– 1895. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddm137
- Muchir, A., Pavlidis, P., Decostre, V., Herron, A. J., Arimura, T., Bonne, G., et al. (2007b).
 Activation of MAPK pathways links LMNA mutations to cardiomyopathy in Emery Dreifuss muscular dystrophy. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 1282–1293. doi: 10.1172/JCI29042
- Muchir, A., Reilly, S. A., Wu, W., Iwata, S., Homma, S., Bonne, G., et al. (2012a). Treatment with selumetinib preserves cardiac function and improves survival in cardiomyopathy caused by mutation in the lamin A/C gene. *Cardiovasc Res.* 93, 311–319. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvr30
- Muchir, A., Shan, J., Bonne, G., Lehnart, S. E., and Worman, H. J. (2009). Inhibition of extracellular signal-regulated kinase signaling to prevent cardiomyopathy caused by mutation in the gene encoding A-type lamins. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 18, 241–247. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddn343
- Muchir, A., Wu, W., Choi, J. C., Iwata, S., Morrow, J., Homma, S., et al. (2012b). Abnormal p38alpha mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling in dilated cardiomyopathy caused by lamin A/C gene mutation. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 21, 4325–4333. doi: 10.1093/hmg/dds265

- Mull, A., Kim, G., and Holaska, J. M. (2015). LMO7-null mice exhibit phenotypes consistent with emery-dreifuss muscular dystrophy. *Muscle Nerve* 51, 222–228. doi: 10.1002/mus.24286
- Naetar, N., and Foisner, R. (2009). Lamin complexes in the nuclear interior control progenitor cell proliferation and tissue homeostasis. *Cell Cycle* 8, 1488–1493. doi: 10.4161/cc.8.10.849
- Nagano, A., Koga, R., Ogawa, M., Kurano, Y., Kawada, J., Okada, R., et al. (1996). Emerin deficiency at the nuclear membrane in patients with Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy. *Nature Genet.* 12, 254–259. doi: 10.1038/ng0396-254
- Ng, E. K., Lee, S. M., Li, H. Y., Ngai, S. M., Tsui, S. K., Waye, M. M., et al. (2001). Characterization of tissue-specific LIM domain protein (FHL1C) which is an alternatively spliced isoform of a human LIM-only protein (FHL1). *J Cell Biochem* 82, 1–10. doi: 10.1002/jcb.1110
- Nigg, E. A., Kitten, G. T., and Vorburger, K. (1992). Targeting lamin proteins to the nuclear envelope: the role of CaaX box modifications. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 20, 500–504. doi: 10.1042/bst0200500
- Nikolova, V., Leimena, C., McMahon, A. C., Tan, J. C., Chandar, S., Jogia, D., et al. (2004).
 Defects in nuclear structure and function promote dilated cardiomyopathy in lamin
 A/Cdeficient mice. J. Clin. Invest. 113, 357–369. doi: 10.1172/JCI200419448

- Nmezi, B., Xu, J., Fu, R., Armiger, T.J., Rodríguez-Bey, G., Powell, J.S., Ma, H., Sullivan, M.L., Tu, Y., Chen, N.Y., Young, S.G., Stolz, D.B., Dahl, K.N., Liu, Y., & Padiath, Q.S. (2019).
 Concentric organization of A- and B-type lamins predicts their distinct roles in the spatial organization and stability of the nuclear lamina. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 116, 4307 4315.
- Novitch, B. G., Mulligan, G. J., Jacks, T., and Lassar, A. B. (1996). Skeletal muscle cells lacking the retinoblastoma protein display defects in muscle gene expression and accumulate in S and G2 phases of the cell cycle. *J. Cell Biol.* 135, 441–456. doi: 10.1083/jcb.135.2.441
- Ostlund, C., Ellenberg, J., Hallberg, E., Lippincott-Schwartz, J., and Worman, H. J. (1999). Intracellular trafficking of emerin, the Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy protein. *J. Cell Sci.* 112(Pt 11), 1709–1719.
- Osman, M., Paz, M., Landesman, Y., Fainsod, A., & Gruenbaum, Y. (1990). Molecular analysis of the Drosophila nuclear lamin gene. Genomics, 8 2, 217-24.
- Ozawa, R., Hayashi, Y. K., Ogawa, M., Kurokawa, R., Matsumoto, H., Noguchi, S., et al. (2006). Emerin-lacking mice show minimal motor and cardiac dysfunctions with nuclearassociated vacuoles. *Am. J. Pathol.* 168, 907-917. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2006.050564
- Pan, Y., Garg, A., & Agarwal, A.K. (2007). Mislocalization of prelamin A Tyr646Phe mutant to the nuclear pore complex in human embryonic kidney 293 cells. Biochemical and biophysical research communications, 355 1, 78-84.

- Parry, D. A., Conway, J. F., and Steinert, P. M. (1986). Structural studies on lamin. Similarities and differences between lamin and intermediate-filament proteins. *Biochem. J.* 238, 305–308. doi: 10.1042/bj2380305
- Paulsen, J., Sekelja, M., Oldenburg, A. R., Barateau, A., Briand, N., Delbarre, E., et al. (2017). Chrom3D: three-dimensional genome modeling from Hi-C and nuclear lamin-genome contacts. *Genome Biology* 18:21. doi: 10.1186/s13059-016-1146-2
- Pekovic, V., Harborth, J., Broers, J. L., Ramaekers, F. C., van Engelen, B., Lammens, M., et al. (2007). Nucleoplasmic LAP2alpha-lamin A complexes are required to maintain a proliferative state in human fibroblasts. *J. Cell Biol.* 176, 163–172. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200606139
- Pilat, U., Dechat, T., Bertrand, A. T., Woisetschlager, N., Gotic, I., Spilka, R., et al. (2013). The muscle dystrophy-causing DeltaK32 lamin A/C mutant does not impair the functions of the nucleoplasmic lamin-A/C-LAP2alpha complex in mice. J. Cell Sci. 126(Pt 8), 1753– 1762. doi: 10.1242/jcs.115246
- Puckelwartz, M. J., Kessler, E., Zhang, Y., Hodzic, D., Randles, K. N., Morris, G., et al. (2009). Disruption of nesprin-1 produces an Emery Dreifuss muscular dystrophy-like phenotype in mice. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 18, 607–620. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddn38

- Puckelwartz, M. J., Kessler, E. J., Kim, G., Dewitt, M. M., Zhang, Y., Earley, J. U., et al. (2010). Nesprin-1 mutations in human and murine cardiomyopathy. *J. Mol. Cell Cardiol.* 48, 600–608. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2009.11.006
- Qin, H., Wang, J., Liang, Y., Taniguchi, Y., Tanigaki, K., and Han, H. (2004). RING1 inhibits transactivation of RBP-J by Notch through interaction with LIM protein KyoT2. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 32, 1492–1501. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkh295
- Quijano-Roy, S., Mbieleu, B., Bonnemann, C. G., Jeannet, P. Y., Colomer, J., Clarke, N. F., et al. (2008). De novo LMNA mutations cause a new form of congenital muscular dystrophy. *Ann. Neurol.* 64, 177–186. doi: 10.1002/ana.21417
- Raffaele Di Barletta, M., Ricci, E., Galluzzi, G., Tonali, P., Mora, M., Morandi, L., et al. (2000).
 Different mutations in the LMNA gene cause autosomal dominant and autosomal recessive Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 66, 1407–1412. doi: 10.1086/302869
- Rajgor, D., and Shanahan, C. M. (2013). Nesprins: from the nuclear envelope and beyond. *Expert Rev Mol. Med.* 15:e5. doi: 10.1017/erm.2013.6
- Randles, K. N., Lam le, T., Sewry, C. A., Puckelwartz, M., Furling, D., Wehnert, M., et al. (2010). Nesprins, but not sun proteins, switch isoforms at the nuclear envelope during muscle development. *Dev Dyn* 239, 998–1009. doi: 10.1002/dvdy.22229

- Robinson, P. A., Brown, S., McGrath, M. J., Coghill, I. D., Gurung, R., and Mitchell, C. A.
 (2003). Skeletal muscle LIM protein 1 regulates integrin-mediated myoblast adhesion, spreading, and migration. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 284, C681–695. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00370.2002
- Robson, M. I., de Las Heras, J. I., Czapiewski, R., Le Thanh, P., Booth, D. G., Kelly, D. A., et al. (2016). Tissue-specific gene repositioning by muscle nuclear membrane proteins enhances repression of critical developmental genes during myogenesis. *Mol. Cell* 62, 834–847. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2016.04.035
- Ronningen, T., Shah, A., Oldenburg, A. R., Vekterud, K., Delbarre, E., Moskaug, J. O., et al. (2015). Prepatterning of differentiation-driven nuclear lamin A/C-associated chromatin domains by GlcNAcylated histone H2B. *Genome Res.* 25, 1825–1835. doi: 10.1101/gr.193748.115
- Ryan S.M., Almassey, M., Burch, A.M., Ngo, G., Martin, J.M., Myers, D., Compton, D.,
 Archie, S., Cross, M., Anegre, L., Salzman, A., Virola-Iarussi, A., Barbee, S.A., Mortimer,
 N.T., Sanyal, S., Vrailas-Mortimer, A.D. (2011) Drosophila p38 MAPK interacts with
 BAG-3/starvin to regulate age-dependent protein homeostasis. *Aging Cell*.
 2021 Nov;20(11):e13481.
- R. Moir, T. Spann, R. Lopez-Soler, M. Yoon, A. Goldman, et al. (2000). Review: the dynamics of the nuclear lamins during the cell cycle relationship between structure and function.

- Sobotka-Briner, C., & Chelsky, D. (1992). COOH-terminal methylation of lamin B and inhibition of methylation by farnesylated peptides corresponding to lamin B and other CAAX motif proteins. The Journal of biological chemistry, 267 17, 12116-22.
- Sakaki, M., Koike, H., Takahashi, N., Sasagawa, N., Tomioka, S., Arahata, K., & Ishiura, S. (2001). Interaction between emerin and nuclear lamins. Journal of biochemistry, 129 2, 321-7.
- Salpingidou, G., Smertenko, A., Hausmanowa-Petrucewicz, I., Hussey, P. J., and Hutchison, C.J. (2007). A novel role for the nuclear membrane protein emerin in association of the centrosome to the outer nuclear membrane. *J. Cell Biol.* 178, 897–904. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200702026
- Samson, C., Celli, F., Hendriks, K., Zinke, M., Essawy, N., Herrada, I., et al. (2017). Emerin selfassembly mechanism: role of the LEM domain. *FEBS J.* 284, 338–352. doi: 10.1111/febs.13983
- Sanna, T., Dello Russo, A., Toniolo, D., Vytopil, M., Pelargonio, G., De Martino, G., et al. (2003).
 Cardiac features of Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy caused by lamin A/C gene mutations. *Eur. Heart J.* 24, 2227–2236. doi: 10.1016/j.ehj.2003.09.020
- Sarbassov, D. D., Ali, S. M., Sengupta, S., Sheen, J. H., Hsu, P. P., Bagley, A. F., et al. (2006). Prolonged rapamycin treatment inhibits mTORC2 assembly and Akt/PKB. *Mol. Cell* 22, 159–168. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2006.03.029

- Saxton, R. A., and Sabatini, D. M. (2017). mTOR Signaling in growth, metabolism, and disease. *Cell* 169, 361–371. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.03.035
- Scharner, J., Figeac, N., Ellis, J. A., and Zammit, P. S. (2015). Ameliorating pathogenesis by removing an exon containing a missense mutation: a potential exon-skipping therapy for laminopathies. *Gene Ther.* 22, 503–515. doi: 10.1038/gt.2015.8
- Schneider, M., Lu, W., Neumann, S., Brachner, A., Gotzmann, J., Noegel, A. A., et al. (2011). Molecular mechanisms of centrosome and cytoskeleton anchorage at the nuclear
- Schulz, R. A., and Yutzey, K. E. (2004). Calcineurin signaling and NFAT activation in cardiovascular and skeletal muscle development. *Dev. Biol.* 266, 1–16. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2003.10.008
- Schwartz, C., Fischer, M., Mamchaoui, K., Bigot, A., Lok, T., Verdier, C., et al. (2017). Lamins and nesprin-1 mediate inside-out mechanical coupling in muscle cell precursors through FHOD1. Sci Rep 7:1253. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-01324-z
- Serratrice, G., and Pouget, J. (1986). Emery-Dreifuss myopathy or amyotrophy with early contractures of muscles and secondary anomalies of cardiac conduction with variable heredity. *Rev Neurol.* 142, 766–770.

- Sewry, C. A., Brown, S. C., Mercuri, E., Bonne, G., Feng, L., Camici, G., et al. (2001). Skeletal muscle pathology in autosomal dominant Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy with lamin A/C mutations. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 27, 281–290. doi: 10.1046/j.0305-1846.2001.00323.x
- Sheikh, F., Raskin, A., Chu, P. H., Lange, S., Domenighetti, A. A., Zheng, M., et al. (2008). An FHL1-containing complex within the cardiomyocyte sarcomere mediates hypertrophic biomechanical stress responses in mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* 118, 3870–3880. doi: 10.1172/JCI34472
- Shimi, T., Kittisopikul, M., Tran, J., Goldman, A. E., Adam, S. A., Zheng, Y., et al. (2015). Structural organization of nuclear lamins A, C, B1, and B2 revealed by superresolution microscopy. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 26, 4075–4086. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e15-07-0461

Siragam, V., Cui, X., Masse, S., Ackerley, C., Aafaqi, S., Strandberg, L., et al. (2014). TMEM43 mutation p.S358L alters intercalated disc protein expression and reduces conduction velocity in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. *PLoS ONE* 9:e109128. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0109128

- Small, E. M., Thatcher, J. E., Sutherland, L. B., Kinoshita, H., Gerard, R. D., Richardson, J. A., et al. (2010). Myocardin-related transcription factor-a controls myofibroblast activation and fibrosis in response to myocardial infarction. *Circ Res* 107, 294–304. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.223172
- Solovei, I., Wang, A. S., Thanisch, K., Schmidt, C. S., Krebs, S., Zwerger, M., et al. (2013). LBR and lamin A/C sequentially tether peripheral heterochromatin and inversely regulate differentiation. *Cell* 152, 584–598. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.01.009
- Somech, R., Shaklai, S., Geller, O., Amariglio, N., Simon, A. J., Rechavi, G., et al. (2005). The nuclear-envelope protein and transcriptional repressor LAP2beta interacts with HDAC3 at the nuclear periphery and induces histone H4 deacetylation. *J. Cell Sci*. 118(Pt 17), 4017–4025. doi: 10.1242/jcs.02521
- Sosa, B. A., Kutay, U., and Schwartz, T. U. (2013). Structural insights into LINC complexes. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* 23, 285–291. doi: 10.1016/j.sbi.2013.03.005
- Sosa, B. A., Rothballer, A., Kutay, U., and Schwartz, T. U. (2012). LINC complexes form by binding of three KASH peptides to domain interfaces of trimeric SUN proteins. *Cell* 149, 1035–1047. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.03.046
- Squarzoni, S., Sabatelli, P., Capanni, C., Petrini, S., Ognibene, A., Toniolo, D., et al. (2000). Emerin presence in platelets. *Acta Neuropathol.* 100, 291–298. doi: 10.1007/s004019900169

- Starr, D. A., and Fridolfsson, H. N. (2010). Interactions between nuclei and the cytoskeleton are mediated by SUN-KASH nuclear-envelope bridges. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 26, 421– 444. doi: 10.1146/annurev-cellbio-100109-104037
- Steensel, B.V., & Belmont, A.S. (2017). Lamina-Associated Domains: Links with Chromosome Architecture, Heterochromatin, and Gene Repression. Cell, 169, 780-791.
- Stroud, M. J., Fang, X., Zhang, J., Guimaraes-Camboa, N., Veevers, J., Dalton, N. D., et al. (2018). Luma is not essential for murine cardiac development and function. *Cardiovasc Res.* 114, 378–388. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvx205
- Stroud, M. J., Feng, W., Zhang, J., Veevers, J., Fang, X., Gerace, L., et al. (2017). Nesprin 1alpha2 is essential for mouse postnatal viability and nuclear positioning in skeletal muscle. J. Cell Biol. 216, 1915–1924. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201612128
- Stubenvoll, A., Rice, M., Wietelmann, A., Wheeler, M., and Braun, T. (2015). Attenuation of Wnt/beta-catenin activity reverses enhanced generation of cardiomyocytes and cardiac defects caused by the loss of emerin. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 24, 802–813. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu498
- Stuurman, N., Heins, S., & Aebi, U. (1998). Nuclear lamins: their structure, assembly, and interactions. Journal of structural biology, 122 1-2, 42-66.

- Sullivan, T., Escalante-Alcalde, D., Bhatt, H., Anver, M., Bhat, N., Nagashima, K., et al. (1999).
 Loss of A-type lamin expression compromises nuclear envelope integrity leading to muscular dystrophy. J. Cell Biol. 147, 913–920. doi: 10.1083/jcb.147.5.913
- Swift, J., Ivanovska, I. L., Buxboim, A., Harada, T., Dingal, P. C., Pinter, J., et al. (2013). Nuclear lamin-A scales with tissue stiffness and enhances matrix-directed differentiation. *Science* 341:1240104. doi: 10.1126/science.1240104
- Taniguchi, Y., Furukawa, T., Tun, T., Han, H., and Honjo, T. (1998). LIM protein KyoT2 negatively regulates transcription by association with the RBP-J DNA-binding protein. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 18, 644–654. doi: 10.1128/MCB.18.1.644
- Taniura, H., Glass, C., & Gerace, L. (1995). A chromatin binding site in the tail domain of nuclear lamins that interacts with core histones. The Journal of Cell Biology, 131, 33 - 44
- Taylor, M. R., Slavov, D., Gajewski, A., Vlcek, S., Ku, L., Fain, P. R., et al. (2005).
 Thymopoietin (lamina-associated polypeptide 2) gene mutation associated with dilated cardiomyopathy. *Hum. Mutat.* 26, 566–574. doi: 10.1002/humu.20250
- Tsuchiya, Y., Hase, A., Ogawa, M., Yorifuji, H., and Arahata, K. (1999). Distinct regions specify the nuclear membrane targeting of emerin, the responsible protein for Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy. *Eur J Biochem* 259, 859–865. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-1327.1999.00112.x

- Turgay, Y., Eibauer, M., Goldman, A. E., Shimi, T., Khayat, M., Ben-Harush, K., et al. (2017).
 The molecular architecture of lamins in somatic cells. *Nature* 543, 261–264. doi: 10.1038/nature21382
- Ura, S., Hayashi, Y. K., Goto, K., Astejada, M. N., Murakami, T., Nagato, M., et al. (2007).
 Limb-girdle muscular dystrophy due to emerin gene mutations. *Arch. Neurol.* 64, 1038–1041. doi: 10.1001/archneur.64.7.1038
- van der Kooi, A. J., van Meegen, M., Ledderhof, T. M., McNally, E. M., de Visser, M., and Bolhuis, P. A. (1997). Genetic localization of a newly recognized autosomal dominant limb-girdle muscular dystrophy with cardiac involvement (LGMD1B) to chromosome 1q11–21. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 60, 891–895.
- Varela, I., Cadinanos, J., Pendas, A. M., Gutierrez-Fernandez, A., Folgueras, A. R., Sanchez, L. M., et al. (2005). Accelerated ageing in mice deficient in Zmpste24 protease is linked to p53 signalling activation. *Nature* 437, 564–568. doi: 10.1038/nature04019
- Vignier, N., Chatzifrangkeskou, M., Rodriguez, B. M., Mericskay, M., Mougenot, N., Bonne, G., et al. (2018). Rescue of biosynthesis of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD+) protects the heart in cardiomyopathy caused by lamin A/C gene mutation. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddy278.

- Vrailas-Mortimer, A. D., del Rivero, T., Mukherjee, S., Nag, S., Gaitanidis, A., Kadas, D.,
 Consoulas, C., Duttaroy, A., & Sanyal, S. (2011). A Muscle-Specific p38
 MAPK/Mef2/MnSOD Pathway Regulates Stress, Motor Function, and Life Span in
 Drosophila. Developmental Cell, 21, (4), 783–795. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.
 devcel.2011.09.002
- Vrailas-Mortimer, A. D., Ryan, S. M., Avey, M. J., Mortimer, N. T., Dowse, H., & Sanyal, S. (2014).
 p38 MAP Kinase Regulates Circadian Rhythms in Drosophila. Journal of Biological Rhythms, 29, (6), 411–426. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0748730414555183
- Vrailas-Mortimer, A., Gomez, R., Dowse, H., & Sanyal, S. (2012). A sur- vey of the protective effects of some commercially available antioxidant supplements in genetically and chemically induced models of oxidative stress in Drosophila melanogaster. Experimental Gerontology, 47, 712–722\
- Xu, L., Yang, L., & Lei, S. (2012). Self-assembly of conjugated oligomers and polymers at the interface: structure and properties. Nanoscale, 4 15, 4399-415.